
 

The Corporation of the County of Wellington 

Administration, Finance and Human Resources Committee 

Minutes 

 
May 17, 2022 

County Administration Centre 
Guthrie Room 

 
Present: Warden Kelly Linton 
 Councillor Chris White (Chair) 
 Councillor George Bridge 
 Councillor Earl Campbell 
 Councillor Andy Lennox 
  
Also Present: Councillor Campbell Cork 
 Councillor Gregg Davidson 
 Councillor Jeff Duncan 
 Councillor Steve O'Neill 
 
Staff: 

 
Susan Aram, Deputy Treasurer 

 Donna Bryce, County Clerk 
 Shauna Calder, Manager of Finance 
 Ken DeHart, County Treasurer 
 Susan Farrelly, Director of Human Resources 

Emma Reddish, Property Tax Analyst 
Brendan Ridgeway, Manager, Human Resources - Employee Services 

  
 
1. Call to Order 

 
At 1:38 pm, the Chair called the meeting to order. 

 
2. Declaration of Pecuniary Interest 

 
There were no declarations of pecuniary interest.  

 
 
 
 
 



AF & HR Minutes - May 17, 2022
 Page 2 

 

3. Delegation: 
 
3.1 KPMG Year-End Audit Findings Report  

 
1/5/22 
 
Moved by: Councillor Lennox 
Seconded by: Warden Linton 
 
That the KPMG Year-End Audit Findings Report presented by Brendan Hall, 
Senior Manager KPMG LLP be received for information.  

Carried 
 

3.2 2021 Audited Financial Statements 
 
2/5/22 
 
Moved by: Councillor Bridge 
Seconded by: Warden Linton 
 

ending December 31, 2021 be approved.  
Carried 

 
4. Administration 
 
5. Finance 

 
5.1 Corporate Financial Statements as of April 30, 2022 

 
3/5/22 
 
Moved by: Councillor Campbell 
Seconded by: Warden Linton 
 
That the Corporate Financial Statements for the County of Wellington as of April 
30, 2022 be approved. 

Carried 
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5.2 2023 Budget Timetable 
 
4/5/22 
 
Moved by: Councillor Campbell 
Seconded by: Councillor Bridge 
 
That the 2023 Budget process timetable be approved. 

  
Carried 

 
5.3 County Debenture Issue Dated June 2, 2022 

 
5/5/22 
 
Moved by: Councillor Bridge 
Seconded by: Warden Linton 
 
That the County Clerk and Treasurer be directed to prepare the debenture by-
law and sign all necessary documents pertaining to the County debenture issue 
dated June 2, 2022. 

Carried 
 

5.4 Elora South Financial Assistance Agreement - TIEG 
 
6/5/22 
 
Moved by: Councillor Campbell 
Seconded by: Councillor Bridge 
 
That a tax increment equivalent grant for Elora South Inc. Development be 
approved for eligible commercial improvements for a duration of five years; and 
That the incentives amount to 100% of the tax increment in year one; 80% in 
year two; 60% in year three; 40% in year four; and 20% in year five; while 
returning to full taxation in year six; and 
 
That staff be directed to enter into a Financial Assistance Agreement with the 
Township of Centre Wellington for the Elora South Inc Tax Increment Equivalent 
Grant application. 

Carried 
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6. Human Resources 
 
6.1 Joint Accessibility Advisory Committee Meeting Minutes - May 2022 

 
7/5/22 
 
Moved by: Councillor Lennox 
Seconded by: Councillor Campbell 
 
That the minutes from the May 5, 2022 County of Wellington Joint Accessibility 
Advisory Committee meeting be received for information. 

Carried 
 

6.2 2021 Human Resources Annual Report 
 
8/5/22 
 
Moved by: Councillor Campbell 
Seconded by: Councillor Bridge 
 
That the 2021 Human Resources Annual Report be received for information. 

 
Carried 

 
7. Closed Meeting 

 
9/5/22 
 
Moved by: Councillor Lennox 
Seconded by: Councillor Bridge 
 
That the Administration, Finance and Human Resources Committee move into a closed 
meeting for the purposes of considering labour relations or employee negotiations. 

             Carried 
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8. Adjournment 
 
At 3:28 pm, the Chair adjourned the meeting until June 21, 2022 or at the call of the 
Chair. 

 
 

 
 

_________________________ 
Chris White 

Chair 
Administration, Finance and Human Resources Committee 
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        COMMITTEE REPORT  
  
  
To:  Chair and Members of the Administration, Finance and Human Resources Committee 
From:  Susan Aram, Deputy Treasurer 
Date:            Tuesday, May 17, 2022 
Subject:  2021 Audited Financial Statements 
 
 

Background: 

findings and answer questions relating to the statements.  
 
A final signed version of the statements will be produced following Council approval on May 26, 2022 at which 

 
 

Recommendation:  
 

be approved.  
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 

 
 
Susan Aram, CPA,CGA 
Deputy Treasurer 
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KPMG LLP
120 Victoria Street South,
Suite 600
Kitchener, ON N2G 2B3 
Canada
Tel 519-747-8800
Fax 519-747-8830

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

To the Members of Council, Inhabitants and Ratepayers of the Corporation of the 
County of Wellington

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of The Corporation of the County

of Wellington (the Entity), which comprise:

the consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31, 2021

the consolidated statement of operations and accumulated surplus for the year then

ended

the consolidated statement of changes in net financial assets for the year then ended

the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended

and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of

significant accounting policies

(Hereinafter referred to as the “financial statements”).

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material 

respects, the consolidated financial position of the Entity as at December 31, 2021, and 

its consolidated results of operations, its consolidated changes in net financial assets

and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian 

public sector accounting standards. 

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing 

standards.  Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the 

“Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements” section of our 

auditors’ report.  

We are independent of the Entity in accordance with the ethical requirements that are 

relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Canada and we have fulfilled our other 

ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 

provide a basis for our opinion.    

KPMG LLP, an Ontario limited liability partnership and member firm of the KPMG global organization of independent 
member firms affiliated with KPMG International Limited, a private English company limited by guarantee. 
KPMG Canada provides services to KPMG LLP.

We have audited the consolidated financial statementsWe have audited the consolidated financial statements of Theof The Corporation of the 
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Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for 

the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 

statements in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards and for 

such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation 

of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 

error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the 

Entity’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related 

to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management 

either intends to liquidate the Entity or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative 

but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Entity’s financial 

reporting process.

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 

statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, 

and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 

conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will 

always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually 

or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 

decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, 

we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the

audit. 

We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, 

whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to 

those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 

basis for our opinion. 

The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than 

for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 

omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management 

either intends to liquidate the Entity or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative either intends to liquidate the Entity or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative 
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Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design

audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose

of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Entity's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness

of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.

Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis

of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material

uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on

the Entity's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material

uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the

related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,

to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up

to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions may cause

the Entity to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements,

including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the

underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters,

the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any

significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants

Waterloo, Canada

May 26, 2022 
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County of Wellington
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 
As at December 31 2021 2020

$ $

Assets
Financial Assets
Cash and Cash Equivalents (Note 3) 56,020,725          46,410,515          
Accounts Receivable 11,100,646          10,047,506          
Portfolio Investments (Note 3) 113,664,072        96,976,239          
Loans Receivable (Note 4) 722,141               945,504               
Total Financial Assets 181,507,584        154,379,764        

Liabilities
Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities            21,753,664            21,562,364 
Deferred Revenue (Note 5)            15,459,267            14,424,777 
Landfill Site Closure & Post Closure Liability (Note 6)            10,190,146              8,613,565 
Post-Employment/Retirement Liability (Note 7)              2,462,766              2,359,915 
WSIB Liability (Note 8)              1,394,249              1,361,104 
Other Long-Term Liabilities (Note 9)                   45,065                   90,129 
Net Debentures and Loans (Note 10)            32,566,214            34,587,574 
Total Liabilities            83,871,371            82,999,428 
   
Net Financial Assets 97,636,213          71,380,336          

Non-Financial Assets
Tangible Capital Assets (Note 11) 433,813,213        434,780,804        
Inventories of Supplies 844,591               1,400,178            
Prepaid Expenses 1,987,575            2,426,794            
Total Non Financial Assets 436,645,379        438,607,776        

Accumulated Surplus (Note 12) 534,281,592        509,988,112        

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements 2 

 

County of Wellington
Consolidated Statement of Operations

               (Note 20)
For the year ended December 31        Budget    2021 2020

$ $ $

Revenues
Taxation (Note 13)                     111,160,900 111,844,954        108,337,251        
Government Transfers 
   Provincial (Note 14) 77,399,824                     87,314,523          78,223,252          
   Federal (Note 14) 10,597,173                     8,183,299            6,113,066            
   Municipal 24,746,880                     23,092,243          26,011,667          
Fees and Service Charges 12,456,000                     13,245,063          11,523,390          
Licences, Permits, Rent 8,687,400                       8,603,886            8,583,597            
Interest, Donations, Other 3,321,440                       7,110,700            3,742,772            
Development Charges 692,000                          3,179,074            2,418,713            
Total Revenues                     249,061,617          262,573,742          244,953,708 

Expenses
General Government 23,671,147                     20,443,660          19,513,187          
Protection to Persons & Property     19,626,248                     19,867,211          19,190,525          
Transportation Services 31,314,562                     32,506,942          32,171,614          
Environmental Services 13,270,053                     14,480,259          11,497,936          
Health Services 17,299,604                     18,606,612          14,944,922          
Social Housing 34,952,668                     43,026,625          38,384,207          
Social and Family Services 77,249,835                     74,278,539          76,155,158          
Library 8,961,420                       8,709,080            8,355,208            
Museum 2,573,271                       2,503,684            2,589,553            
Planning and Development 4,334,912                       3,857,650            4,171,461            
Total Expenses                     233,253,720          238,280,262          226,973,771 

Annual Surplus 15,807,897                     24,293,480          17,979,937          

Accumulated Surplus, Beginning of Year 509,988,112                   509,988,112        492,008,175        

Accumulated Surplus, End of Year 525,796,009                   534,281,592        509,988,112        
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County of Wellington
Consolidated Statement of Change in Net Financial Assets

(Note 20)
For the year ended December 31 Budget 2021 2020

$ $ $

Annual Surplus 15,807,897              24,293,480          17,979,937          

Acquisition of Tangible Capital Assets (38,179,300)            (24,884,691)         (32,931,233)         
Amortization of Tangible Capital Assets 26,000,000              25,378,798          27,703,651          
Loss on Disposal of Tangible Capital Assets - 2,607                   514,770               
Proceeds on Sale of Tangible Capital Assets - 470,877               379,290               

                3,628,597            25,261,071            13,646,415 

Acquisition of Inventories of Supplies - (844,591)              (1,400,178)           
Acquisition of Prepaid Expenses - (1,987,575)           (2,426,794)           
Consumption of Inventories of Supplies - 1,400,178            779,004               
Use of Prepaid Expenses - 2,426,794            2,088,423            

Change in Net Financial Assets                 3,628,597            26,255,877            12,686,870 

Net Financial Assets, Beginning of Year 71,380,336              71,380,336          58,693,466          

Net Financial Assets, End of Year               75,008,933            97,636,213            71,380,336 
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County of Wellington
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 

 

For the year ended December 31 2021 2020
$ $

Cash Provided By (Used In):

Operating Activities:
   Annual Surplus 24,293,480         17,979,937         
   Items Not Involving Cash:
      Amortization 25,378,798         27,703,651         
      Loss on Disposal of Tangible Capital Assets 2,607                 514,770             
      Contributed Tangible Capital Assets (3,000,000)          -
      Change in Post Employment/Retirement Liability 102,851             46,126               
      Change in WSIB Liability 33,145               20,777               
      Change in Landfill Liability 1,576,581           32,345               
      Change in Other Long-Term Liabilites (45,064)              (60,086)              
   Change in Non-Cash Assets and Liabilities:
      Accounts Receivable (1,061,140)          991,925             
      Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities 191,300             4,920,092           
      Deferred Revenue 1,034,490           3,838,210           
      Inventories of Supplies 555,587             (621,174)            
      Prepaid Expenses 439,219             (338,371)            
Net Change in Cash from Operating Activities 49,501,854         55,028,202         

Capital Activities:
   Proceeds on Sale of Tangible Capital Assets 470,877             379,290             
   Cash Used to Acquire Tangible Capital Assets (21,884,691)        (32,931,233)        
Net Change in Cash from Capital Activities         (21,413,814)         (32,551,943)

Investing Activities:
   Loan Receivable Collected 231,363             (834,119)            
   Change in Long-Term Investments (16,687,833)        (4,936,572)          
Net Change in Cash from Investing Activities         (16,456,470)           (5,770,691)

Financing Activities:
   Long-Term Debt Issued 1,825,000           -                        
   Long-Term Debt Repaid (3,846,360)          (4,065,008)          
Net Change in Cash from Financing Activities           (2,021,360)           (4,065,008)

Net Change in Cash and Cash Equivalents            9,610,210          12,640,560 

Cash and Cash Equivalents, Beginning of Year          46,410,515          33,769,955 

Cash and Cash Equivalents, End of Year          56,020,725          46,410,515 
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The County of Wellington (the County) is an upper-tier municipality in the Province of Ontario, Canada.  
The County is comprised of seven member municipalities: the Towns of Erin and Minto, and the 
Townships of Centre Wellington, Guelph/Eramosa, Mapleton, Puslinch and Wellington North. 

 

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

The consolidated financial statements of the County of Wellington are prepared by management in 
accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles for governments as 
recommended by the Public Sector Accounting Board (PSAB) of the Canadian Institute of Chartered 
Accountants.  Significant accounting policies adopted by the County are as follows: 

 

a) Basis of Consolidation 

(i) Consolidated Entities 
 
 These consolidated statements include the activities of all committees of Council and the 

following boards and municipal corporation which are under the control of Council: 

Wellington County Police Services Board 

Wellington County Public Library Board 

Wellington Housing Corporation (WHC) 

All interfund assets and liabilities and sources of financing and expenses have been 
eliminated with the exception of loans or advances between reserve funds and any other 
fund of the municipality and the resulting interest income and expenses. 

Under PSAB standards, the County reports only its share of assets, liabilities and results of 
operations of any government partnerships in which it participates.  The County participates 
in the Wellington-Dufferin-Guelph Health Unit to the extent of 32.0% (2019 – 32.0%) based 
on population, as stated in the agreement with the other participants, the City of Guelph and 
the County of Dufferin. 

 (ii) Trust Funds 

 Trust funds and their related operations administered by the County are not consolidated, 
but are reported separately on the Trust Funds Statement of Financial Position and 
Statement of Operations. 

b) Basis of Accounting 

(i) Accrual Basis of Accounting 

The County follows the accrual method of accounting for revenues and expenses.  Revenues 
are normally recognized in the year in which they are earned and measurable.  Expenses are 
recognized as they are incurred and measurable as a result of receipt of goods or services 
and/or the creation of a legal obligation to pay. 

(ii) Investments  

  Cash and cash equivalents 

 Cash and cash equivalents are comprised of the amounts held in the County’s bank 
accounts and investments with an original maturity date of three months or less.   

 Portfolio Investments 

Investments with an original maturity date of more than three months are reported as 
portfolio investments. Investments and pooled investments are reported using the cost 
method. Discounts and premiums arising on the purchase of these investments are 
amortized over the term of the investments. Provisions for declines in the market value of 
investments are recorded when they are considered to be other than temporary. Declines in 
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the market values of investments are considered to be other than temporary when the 
carrying value exceeds market value for more than three years. 

(iii) Loans Receivable  

In accordance with PS 3050 loans receivable are recorded at cost less any amount for 
valuation allowance. Valuation allowances are made when collection is in doubt as 
assessed by Management. (Note 3) 

(iv) Deferred Revenue 

In accordance with PSAB requirements obligatory reserve funds are reported as a 
component of deferred revenue. The County has obligatory development charge reserve 
funds in the amount of $6,948,539 (2020-$4,736,256).  These funds have been set aside, 
as required by the Development Charges Act, to finance a portion of the cost of growth-
related capital projects.  Revenue recognition occurs after the funds have been collected 
and when the County has incurred the expenses for the capital works for which the 
development charges were raised (Note 5). 

Unexpended funds of $6,785,022 (2020 - $5,543,456) received by the County from the 
Canada Community Building Fund (previously Federal Gas Tax) are reported as deferred 
revenue and will be recognized as revenue in the fiscal year in which the eligible expenses 
are incurred. Unexpended funds of $50,502 (2020-$1,330,613) received by the County 
under the Ontario Capital Infrastructure Fund are reported as deferred revenue and will be 
recognized as revenue in the fiscal year in which the eligible expenses are incurred.  

(v) Solid Waste Landfill Closure and Post-Closure Liability 

Under PS 3270, a liability must be recognized for all closure and post-closure costs 
associated with all inactive and active landfill sites. The estimated liability for the care is the 
present value of future cash flows over a rolling 30-year (previously 25-year) period 
discounted using the County’s long term borrowing rate at the end of each year.   

 (vi) Taxation 

Under PS3510, taxes receivable and tax revenue are recognized when they meet the 
definition of an asset, the tax is authorized and the taxable event has occurred (Note 13). 

(vii)  Government Transfers 

Under PS3410, government transfers received relate to social services, police, health and 
cultural programmes.  Transfers are recognized in the financial statements as revenues in 
the period in which events giving rise to the transfer occur, providing the transfers are 
authorized, any eligibility criteria have been met, and reasonable estimates of the amounts 
can be made (Note 14). 

    (viii) Contaminated Sites 

Under PS 3260, contaminated sites are defined as the result of contamination being 
introduced in air, soil, water or sediment of a chemical, organic, or radioactive material of 
live organism that exceeds an environment standard. This Standard relates to sites that are 
not in productive use and sites in productive use where an unexpected event resulted in 
contamination.  

 (ix) Use of Estimates 

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of 
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported 
amounts of revenues and expenses during the period.  Significant estimates include 
assumptions used in estimating provisions for accrued liabilities, landfill closure and post-
closure liability, actuarial valuations of employee future benefits, and the historical cost and 
useful lives of tangible capital assets. Actual results could differ from these estimates. 
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c) Physical Assets 

  (i) Tangible Capital Assets 

Tangible capital assets are recorded at cost which includes amounts that are directly 
attributable to acquisition, construction, development or betterment of the asset.  The cost, 
less residual value, of the tangible capital assets, excluding land and landfill sites, is 
amortized on a straight line basis over their estimated useful lives as follows: 

Major Asset Classification Component Breakdown
 Useful Life - 

Years 
Land N/A
Landfill Sites  N/A - Based on 

usage 
Buildings Structure 15 to 50

Exterior 20 to 50
Interior 15 to 25
Site Elements 10 to 30
Leasehold Improvements Lease Term

Infrastructure
Roads and Parking Lots - Asphalt 20
Roads and Parking Lots - Gravel 50
Roads - Base 50
Bridges - Surface 20
Bridges and Culverts - Structure 50
Structural Walls 50
Trails 20-50
Traffic Signals, Street Signs, 
Outdoor Lighting 20

Vehicles & Machinery Licensed Equipment 7
Unlicensed Equipment 15
Machinery and Equipment 7 to 20

Furniture & Fixtures 5 to 15
Technology & Communications 4 to 20
Library Books and Media 5

 
Landfill sites are amortized using the units of production method based upon capacity used 
during the year. 

Assets under construction are not amortized until the asset is available for productive use. 
   

  (ii) Contributions of Tangible Capital Assets 

Tangible capital assets received as contributions are recorded at their fair value at the date 
of receipt and are also recorded as revenue. The value of assets contributed in 2021 is 
$3,000,000 (2020 - $0). 

 
 (iii) Works of Art and Cultural and Historic Assets 

Works of art and cultural and historic assets are not recorded as assets in these financial 
statements.  The County’s art collection includes approximately 1,300 pieces, either created 
by a significant Wellington County artist and/or depicting Wellington County subject matter. 
The Museum’s collection contains over 21,000 artifacts. The Archives’ collection contains 
over 103,000 photographs, as well as maps, microfilm and audio-visual media. Both 
collections relate to the history of Wellington County and are fully catalogued with appraised 
values in the County’s collections database. The collection is maintained and stored at the 
Wellington County Museum & Archives as per Provincial Standards for Ontario Museums.  
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 (iv) Interest Capitalization 

Borrowing costs incurred as a result of the acquisition, construction and production of an 
asset that takes a substantial period of time to prepare for its intended use are capitalized as 
part of the cost of the asset. 

Capitalization of interest costs commences when the expenses are being incurred, borrowing 
costs are being incurred and activities that are necessary to prepare the asset for its intended 
use are in progress.  Capitalization is suspended during periods in which active development 
is interrupted.  Capitalization ceases when substantially all of the activities necessary to 
prepare the asset for it intended use are complete.  If only minor modifications are 
outstanding, this indicates that substantially all of the activities are complete. 

The capitalized interest costs associated with the acquisition or construction of tangible 
capital assets during the year was $0 (2020 - $0). 

 

  (v) Leased Tangible Capital Assets 

Leases which transfer substantially all of the benefits and risks incidental to ownership of 
property are accounted for as leased tangible capital assets.  All other leases are accounted 
for as operating leases and the related payments are expensed as incurred. 

 
(vi) Inventories of Supplies 

Inventories of supplies held for consumption are recorded at the lower of cost and 
replacement cost. 

 
(vii) Tangible Capital Assets recorded at Nominal Value 

 Under PS 3150.42 the County has no assets recorded at nominal value.  
 

2. TRUST FUNDS 

Trust funds administered by the County amounting to $103,264 (2020 - $122,848) have not been 
included in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position, nor have their operations been included 
in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Activities. 

 

3. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND PORTFOLIO INVESTMENTS  

Total cash and cash equivalents of $56,020,725 (2020 - $46,410,515) are reported on the 
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position at cost.  
 
Total portfolio investments of $113,664,072 (2020 - $96,976,239) are reported on the Consolidated 
Statement of Financial Position at cost and have a market value of $116,760,588 (2020 - 
$101,528,482). 
 
At December 31, 2021 the County had two credit facilities arrangements. Facility 1 is $5,000,000 by 
way of loans with an interest rate of prime less 0.50% and remains undrawn at December 31, 2021. 
Facility 2 is $500,000 by way of Letters of Credit. The aggregate of Facility 1 and Facility 2 may not 
exceed $5,000,000 at any time.  
 
On November 15, 2019, an irrevocable Standby Letter of Credit was issued to finance the Badley 
(Metcalfe Street) bridge replacement in favour of the Receiver General for Canada on behalf of 
Fisheries and Oceans Canada in the amount of $201,900. The annual interest rate is 1.35% on any 
outstanding amounts. In January of 2021, the Letter of Credit was reduced by $66,500 leaving a 
balance of $135,400. 
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4. LOANS RECEIVABLE  

 (i) Cost Sharing Agreements with the Township of Centre Wellington 

In 2010 the County entered into a cost sharing agreement with the Township of Centre Wellington 
and Groves Memorial Hospital to fund three phases of a Community Planning Area sub-watershed 
Study.  The County funds the work upfront and is repaid by the Township at 54% and the Hospital 
at 6%. In 2011 phase 1 was completed and in 2012 phase 2 was completed.  The Township will 
repay the County over 10 years, interest free, from year of completion and the Hospital will repay 
the County through the Township at the time of building permit issuance which occurred in 2017.  
The amount to be repaid to the County as at December 31, 2021 was $13,230 (2020 - $28,080). 
 
In 2015, the County and the Township of Centre Wellington agreed to share soil remediation costs 
for the Fergus Library Expansion Project. The land, originally owned by the Township of Centre 
Wellington was remediated by the County upfront and will be repaid by the Township at 60%. The 
Township will repay the County over ten years, interest free, starting in 2016. The amount to be 
repaid to the County as at December 31, 2021 was $56,304 (2020 - $70,380). 
 

(ii) Keep Well – Emergency Business Sustainability Fund 

In 2020, the County also established the Keep Well – Emergency Business Sustainability Fund to 
provide up to $1,000,000 in low-interest loans (3%) to support local businesses. The County has 
entered in to agreements with the Wellington-Waterloo Community Futures Development 
Corporation (WWCFDC) and the Saugeen Economic Development Corporation (SEDC) to 
administer these loans. The total loans advanced in 2020 were $891,400 (WWCFDC $740,400, 
SEDC $151,000). The total principal repaid in 2021 was $194,436 (WWCFDC $146,311. SEDC 
$48,125) (2020 - total $36,356, WWCFDC $32,042, SEDC $4,314) leaving an outstanding balance 
at December 31, 2021 of $660,608 (WWCFDC $562,046, SEDC $98,561) (2020-total $855,044, 
WWCFDC $708,358, SEDC $146,686). Of these outstanding balances only one loan was 
considered at risk of non-repayment and an allowance has been set up in the amount of $8,000.  
 

2021 2020
$ $

Cost Sharing Agreements with Township of Centre Wellington 
Groves Memorial Hospital Sub-Watershed Study Phase 1  (0% 
Interest, maturity 2021) - 8,235               
Groves Memorial Hospital Sub-Watershed Study Phase 2(0% 
Interest, maturity 2023) 13,230 19,845            

13,230 28,080            
Fergus Library Soil Remediation (0% Interest, maturity 2025) 52,514         65,642            
Fergus Library Site Work (0% Interest, maturity 2025) 3,790            4,738               

56,304         70,380            
Total Cost Sharing Agreements with Township of Centre Wellington 69,534         98,460            
Keep Well - Emergency Business Sustainability Fund
Wellington-Waterloo Community Futures Development Fund (3% 
annual interest rate less 1% administration fee, maturity 2025) 562,046       708,358          
     Less: Valuation Allowance (8,000) (8,000)

554,046       700,358          
Saugeen Economic Development Corporation 98,561         146,686          
Total Keep Well - Emergency Business Sustainability Loans 652,607       847,044          
Total Loans Receivable 722,141       945,504          
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5.   DEFERRED REVENUE 
 
Deferred revenue, which is reported on the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position, is further 
analyzed as follows:  
 

2021 2020
$ $

Canada Community Building Fund 6,785,022       5,543,456       
Ontario Community Infrastructure Fund (OCIF) 50,502            1,330,613       
Development Charges 6,948,539       4,736,256       
Deferred Operating and Capital Grants 1,643,366       2,705,733       
Other 31,838            108,719          

15,459,267      14,424,777      

2021 2020
Balance, Beginning of Year
   Canada Community Building Fund 5,543,456       5,297,933       
   OCIF 1,330,613       -                 
   Development Charges 4,736,256       4,006,516       
   Deferred Operating and Capital Grants 2,705,733       1,218,274       
   Other 108,719          63,844            

14,424,777      10,586,567      
Amounts Received
   Canada Community Building Fund 5,656,318       2,758,534       
   OCIF 1,863,466       1,863,466       
   Safe Restart Fund 1,449,108       2,311,900       
   Development Charges 5,267,019       3,025,369       
   Deferred Capital and Operating Grants 6,534,697       3,706,371       
   Other 49,679            72,763            
   Interest Earned 324,272          303,905          

21,144,559      14,042,308      

Contributions Realized as Revenue (20,110,069)     (10,204,098)     

Balance, End of Year 15,459,267      14,424,777      
 
6.   LANDFILL SITE CLOSURE AND POST-CLOSURE LIABILITY 
 

The County is responsible for all aspects of solid waste management.  As of December 31, 2021 
there were 16 closed landfill sites (of which 5 locations were operating as transfer stations) and 1 
active landfill site. The total estimated expenditure (on a discounted basis) for closure and post-
closure care as of December 31, 2021 is $11,783,831 (2020- $8,660,292).  The amount reported on 
the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as of December 31, 2021 is $10,190,146 (2020 - 
$8,613,565) and the amount remaining to be recognized is $1,593,685 (2020 - $46,727). 
 
Closure costs include final cover and vegetation, drainage control features, leachate control and 
monitoring systems, water quality monitoring systems, gas monitoring and recovery, land acquisition, 
site remediation, and site closure reports. Post-closure costs include leachate monitoring and 
treatment, water quality monitoring, gas monitoring and recovery, ongoing maintenance and annual 
reports.   The discounted cash flow analysis is based on the estimated costs for each of these items 
over a rolling 30-year period (previously 25-year period) using a long term borrowing rate of 2.75% 
(2020 – 2.42%). The forecast period was increased to recognize significant costs associated with 
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the expected closure of Riverstown Landfill Site Phase 2 in 2050.   

The liability for closure and post closure care is recognized as the capacity of each site is used.   For 
any closed sites, 100% of the liability is recognized.  A total of 86.48% (2020-99.46%) of the liability 
is recognized and reported, which represents the estimated weighted average capacity used to 
December 31, 2021.  It is estimated that sufficient landfill site capacity exists for approximately 25 
years. 

Of the $10,190,146 (2020 - $8,613,565) recognized as a liability, $908,819 (2020 - $121,850) is 
included on the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as a reduction to budgetary 
accumulated surplus and will be recovered from future general municipal revenues and $9,281,327 
(2020 - $8,491,715) is shown as an amount to be recovered from reserve funds (see Note 12). 
 
 

7.   POST-EMPLOYMENT / RETIREMENT LIABILITY  
 
Post-employment benefits include a provision to pay 90% of the premium cost for retired non-union 
full-time employees and 90% of the premium cost for retired union full-time employees for dental, 
extended health care and life insurance benefits for an employee voluntarily electing early retirement 
until the retired employee’s 65th birthday. For union full-time employees, the County pays 100% of 
the premium for eligible early retirees with a retirement effective date of December 31, 2022 or 
earlier. There is also a provision to pay 50% of the premium cost for retired permanent part time 
employees for dental and extended health care. To be eligible to receive these benefits, the 
employee must be at least 55 years of age, have a minimum of ten years of continuous service with 
the County at the time of retirement and be in receipt of an OMERS pension. 

 
The present value of these benefit obligations at December 31, 2021 was estimated from an actuarial 
review completed in December 2020. The review calculated the benefit obligations using an accrued 
benefit obligation methodology, which recognizes the accrued benefit over the employees’ working 
lifetime. 
 
Of the $2,462,766 (2020 - $2,359,915) recognized as a liability, $492,027 (2020 - $526,354) is 
related to the County’s share of the Wellington-Dufferin-Guelph Health Unit, $14,954 (2020 - 
$1,833,561) is included on the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as a reduction to 
budgetary accumulated surplus and will be recovered from future general municipal revenues and 
$1,955,785 (2020 - $0) is shown as an amount to be recovered from reserve funds (see Note 12) 
 
 

Benefit
Number of Employees 
Entitled to Benefit as at 

December 31, 2021

Liability as at December 
31, 2021

Liability as at 
December 31, 2020

$ $
Dental 47                          447,949                       416,768 
Extended Health Care 47                       1,420,509                    1,321,631 
Life Insurance 44                          102,281                         95,162 
County of Wellington Total                       1,970,739                    1,833,561 
Wellington-Dufferin Guelph Public Health Unit 492,027                       526,354 
Consolidated Total                       2,462,766                    2,359,915  
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Information about the County’s benefit plan is as follows: 
 

2021 2020
$ $

Accrued Benefit Obligation:

   Balance, beginning of year                  2,709,840                     2,918,714 
   Current benefit cost                     139,067                        149,466 
   Change due to Plan Amendment                               -                        (188,670)
   Interest                       87,028                        115,257 
   Benefits paid                   (203,146)                      (224,042)
   Actuarial gain / (loss)                               -                          (60,885)
   Balance, end of year                  2,732,789                     2,709,840 
Unamortized actuarial loss                   (762,050)                      (876,279)
Liability for benefits                  1,970,739                     1,833,561 
Wellington-Dufferin-Guelph Public Health Unit                     492,027                        526,354 
Consolidated Total                  2,462,766                     2,359,915  

 
Included in expenses is $114,229 (2020 - $118,289) for amortization of the actuarial loss.  The 
unamortized actuarial loss is amortized over the expected average remaining service life of 15 years, 
which began in 2021. 

 
The main actuarial assumptions employed for the valuation are as follows: 
 
(i) Interest (discount rate): 

The present value of future liabilities and the expense for the 12 months ended December 31, 
2021 were determined using a discount rate of 3.25%. 
 

(ii) Health Care Cost Rates: 
Medical costs were assumed to escalate at a rate of 5.75% for 2021 vs. 2020, reducing by .333% 
per year to 3.75% per year in 2027 vs. 2026 and 3.75% each year thereafter. 
 

(iii) Dental Cost Rates: 
Dental costs were assumed to increase at the rate of 3.75% per year. 

 

8. WORKPLACE SAFETY AND INSURANCE 

 
The County is a Schedule II (self-insured) employer with the Workplace Safety and Insurance Board 
(WSIB). Payments made to the WSIB in 2021 resulting from approved claims were $52,060 (2020 - 
$65,949) and are reported as a liability transaction on the Consolidated Statement of Financial 
Position. The WSIB liability is based on an actuarial evaluation completed in December 2020. The 
evaluation is updated every four years. As WSIB benefits are a compensated absence, PSAB 
Section PS 3250 requires full recognition of liabilities associated with workplace injuries that occurred 
on or before the valuation date.  The amount reported on the Consolidated Statement of  
Financial Position as a liability is $1,394,249 (2020 - $1,361,104) to be recovered by reserve funds 
(see Note 12).  
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Information about the WSIB liability is as follows: 
 

2021 2020
$ $

Accrued Benefit Obligation:

   Balance, beginning of year                  1,105,254                     1,278,321 
   Current benefit cost                     184,684                        154,223 
   Interest                       31,255                          48,129 
   Expected benefit payments                   (122,093)                      (144,011)
Expected accrued benefit obligation, end of year                  1,199,100                     1,336,662 
Actual accrued benefit obligation, end of year                  1,199,100                     1,105,254 
Unamortized actuarial gain                     195,149                        255,850 
WSIB Liability                  1,394,249                     1,361,104 

Included as a reduction in expenses is $60,701 (2020 – $37,564) for amortization of the actuarial 
gain.  The unamortized actuarial gain on future payments required to WSIB is amortized over the 
expected period of the liability which is 10 years. 
 
The main actuarial assumptions employed for the valuation are as follows: 
 
(i) Interest (discount rate): 

The present value of future liabilities and the expense for the 12 months ended December 31, 
2021 were determined using a discount rate of 2.75%  
 

(ii) Administration costs: 
Administration costs were assumed to be 25.0% of the compensation expense 
 

(iii) Compensation expense: 
Compensation costs, which include loss of earnings benefits, health care costs and non-
economic loss awards, were assumed to increase at rates ranging from 2.5% to 3.75% depending 
on the benefit type. 

 
The County purchases two forms of insurance to limit exposure in the event of a significant work-
related accident resulting in a death or permanent disability.  Occupational Accident Insurance 
coverage provides a one-time fixed payment of $500,000 per incident.  Excess indemnity insurance 
is in place to a maximum of $10,000,000 with a $500,000 retention.  

 

9. OTHER LONG-TERM LIABILITIES 

In 2018, the County of Wellington approved The Invest Well Community Improvement Programme. 
This programme provides the framework to allow the County to participate financially in member 
municipalities’ grant and loan programmes aimed at revitalizing, beautifying and attracting 
investment in Wellington. Tax Increment Equivalent Grants (TIEG) provide funding which is equal 
to the County portion of a property tax increase that is incurred as a result of a major community 
improvement project. County grants range from 100% coverage of the County portion tax increment 
in year one to 20% in year five. County funding is dependent on the member municipality 
participating financially through its own local CIP TIEG plan. Tax Increment Equivalent Grants must 
be approved individually by County Council and require the annual payment of property taxes by 
the applicant.  
 
The County has agreed to participate in a TIEG grant and has entered into a Financial Assistance 
agreement with the Township of Centre Wellington. One payment of $45,722 was made in 2021 
(2020 - $60,105) with subsequent payments estimated at $45,065 (2020 - $90,129).  Annual grant 
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payments are subject to property value assessments and recalculation of the grants each year. 
 

2021 2020
$ $

2021 - 45,064       
2022 30,043       30,043       
2023 15,022       15,022       

45,065       90,129       

 
 

10.  NET DEBENTURES AND LOANS 

Provincial legislation restricts the use of debentures to financing capital expenses, and also 
authorizes the County to issue long-term debt for both County and Local purposes, with the latter 
at the request of the Local Municipality.  The responsibility for raising the amounts required to 
service these liabilities rests with the County and such Local Municipalities for which the debt was 
issued. 
 

2021 2020
$ $

Debentures outstanding for County purposes            32,208,914            34,097,919 
Mortgage outstanding for Wellington Housing Corporation                 357,300                 489,655 

Total long-term liabilities at the end of the year            32,566,214            34,587,574 
 
Debentures outstanding for Local Municipal purposes (2021-$22,750,862; 2020- $19,764,364) are 
direct, unsecured, unsubordinated, joint and several obligations of the County and such Local 
Municipalities. 
 

 
(a) The outstanding principal portion of unmatured debentures for municipal expenditures is 

reported on the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position, under "Net Debentures and 
Loans".  Net Debentures reported on the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position are 
comprised of the following: 
 

2021 2020
$ $

Long-term liabilities incurred by the County, including those 
incurred on behalf of member municipalities, and outstanding 
at the end of the year (Interest rates range from 0.85% -
5.875%)            54,959,776            53,862,283 
Long-term liabilities incurred by the County and recoverable 
from member municipalities          (22,750,862)          (19,764,364)

Net long-term liabilities at the end of the year            32,208,914            34,097,919 
 

             



Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended December 31, 2021 
  

 
 

15

 The balance of net long-term liabilities is made up of the following: 
 

2021 2020
Debenture payable, 4.75%-4.85%, repayable in annual principal and 
semi-annual interest payments of approximately $225,000 annually, 
due October 5, 2021 - 215,000
Debenture payable, 2.75% - 3.35%, repayable in annual principal 
and semi-annual interest payments of approximately $365,500 
annually, with a balloon payment of $735,000, due March, 6, 2022 1,056,000 1,380,000
Debenture payable, 2.45% - 3.20%, repayble in annual principal and 
semi-annual interest payments of approximately $677,500 annually 
with a balloon payment of $3,135,000, due June 3, 2023 4,250,000 4,785,000
Debenture payable, 5.84%, repayable in blended semi-annual 
payments of $119,573,  due August 12, 2024 649,471 842,206

Debenture payable, 5.875%, repayable in blended semi-annual 
payments of $856,527, due August 12, 2025 6,028,443 7,329,713

Debenture payable, 1.35%-2.45%, repayable in annual principal and 
semi-annual interest payments of approximately $133,500 annually, 
due November 30, 2026 624,000 742,000
Debenture payable, 4.70% - 5.35%, repayable in annual principal 
and semi-annual interest payments ranging from $195,266 to 
$164,280 annually, due June 3, 2030 1,230,000 1,340,000
Debenture payable, 0.85%-2.45% repayble in annual principal and 
semi-annual interest payments of approximately $115,000 annually 
for ten years, with a balloon payment of $1,109,000 due November 
30, 2031 1,825,000 -
Debenture payable, 2.00% - 3.45%, repayable in annual principal 
and semi-annual interest payments ranging from $430,683 to 
$770,754 annually, due May 30, 2038 7,727,000 8,246,000
Debenture payable, 1.90% - 2.60%, repayable in annual principal 
and semi-annual interest payments of approximately $610,000  
annually, due November 4, 2039 8,819,000 9,218,000

32,208,914$   34,097,919$    
 
 

(b) Future principal payments for net long-term liabilities are as follows:
 

Principal
2022  $    4,436,997 
2023        6,655,291 
2024        3,085,201 
2025        2,984,425 
2026        1,379,000 
Subsequent to 2026      13,668,000 

32,208,914$   

(c) The long-term liabilities in (a) of this note issued in the name of the County, as well as those 
pending issues of long-term liabilities and commitments to be financed by revenues beyond the 
term of Council, have been approved by by-law.  The annual principal and interest payments 
required to service these liabilities are within the annual debt repayment limit prescribed by the 
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Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing. 
 
(d) Total charges for the year for net long-term liabilities are as follows: 

 

2021 2020
$ $

Principal Payments              3,714,005              3,934,016 
Interest              1,154,673              1,306,295 

             4,868,678              5,240,311 
 

(e) The charges shown on the previous table are recovered as follows: 
 

2021 2020
$ $

General Municipal Revenues              3,881,954              4,255,659 
Development Charges                 986,724                 984,652 

             4,868,678              5,240,311 

(f) Net long-term liabilities are to be recovered are as follows: 

2021 2020
$ $

Net Long-Term Liabilities
Recovered from General Municipal Revenues            21,931,914            24,916,919 
Recovered from Development Charges            10,277,000              9,181,000 

           32,208,914            34,097,919 

 (g) Wellington Housing Corporation: 

The mortgage payable is held by the Canadian Mortgage and Housing Corporation at an interest 
rate of 0.67% with monthly installments of $11,262 (2020 - $11,262) principal and interest and due 
August 2024.   
 
The mortgage payable is secured by real estate and chattels owned by the corporation with a 
carrying value of $4,073,325 (2019 - $2,596,483).  
          

Principal payments required on long-term debt are due as follows: 

    

Principal
2022           133,168 
2023           134,062 
2024             90,070 

357,300$        

 

11. TANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS  

County tangible capital assets are identified by asset type.  The cost of tangible capital assets, their 
accumulated amortization and net book value are disclosed in the following schedule:
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Cost
December 31, 

2020 Additions Disposals
December 31, 

2021
Land 33,631,664$         517,348               - 34,149,012$        
Landfill Sites 1,871,638             -                           -                           1,871,638            
Buildings 194,711,783         5,914,611            (556,350)              200,070,044        
Infrastructure

Roads 358,715,678         6,790,475            (405,883)              365,100,270        
Bridges 100,116,737         3,039,783            (93,132)                103,063,388        
Culverts 21,306,295           1,065,762            (319,398)              22,052,659          
Structual Walls 308,003                - -                           308,003               
Traffic Lights 4,488,426             1,533,755            -                           6,022,181            
Trails 249,984                -                           - 249,984               
Parking Lots 3,331,193             214,268               (42,161)                3,503,300            

Vehicles & Machinery
Licensed Equipment 11,936,137           1,301,927            (1,231,290)           12,006,774          
Unlicensed Equipment 10,276,168           120,656               (72,678)                10,324,146          

Furniture & Fixtures 9,926,956             718,738               (2,537,975)           8,107,719            
Technology & Communications 7,108,392             892,364               (249,534)              7,751,222            
Library Books 3,135,825             488,890               (751,455)              2,873,260            
Wellington Housing Corporation 4,752,565             695,328               (147,738)              5,300,155            
Public Health 11,323,776           176,569               -                           11,500,345          
Capital Work-in Progress 7,762,939             1,979,162            (547,492)              9,194,609            
Total 784,954,159$       25,449,636$        (6,955,086)$         803,448,709$      

Accumulated Amortization
December 31, 

2020
Amortization 

Expense Disposals
December 31, 

2021
Landfill Sites (1,025,977)$          (28,445)                - (1,054,422)$         
Buildings (68,793,995)          (7,620,480)           304,153               (76,110,322)         
Infrastructure

Roads (194,044,802)        (9,533,023)           405,883               (203,171,942)       
Bridges (47,085,373)          (1,943,800)           90,037                 (48,939,136)         
Culverts (9,913,656)            (444,013)              246,833               (10,110,836)         
Structural Walls (22,747)                 (9,720)                  -                           (32,467)                
Traffic Lights (2,209,748)            (196,154)              -                           (2,405,902)           
Trails (54,487)                 (11,028)                - (65,515)                
Parking Lots (946,623)               (169,268)              23,534                 (1,092,357)           

Vehicles & Machinery
Licensed Equipment (6,285,046)            (1,458,948)           1,124,582            (6,619,412)           
Unlicensed Equipment (4,164,319)            (999,456)              72,678                 (5,091,097)           

Furniture & Fixtures (5,083,404)            (602,298)              2,537,975            (3,147,727)           
Technology & Communications (3,706,538)            (1,088,831)           249,534               (4,545,835)           
Library Books (1,715,055)            (601,404)              751,455               (1,565,004)           
Wellington Housing Corporation (679,240)               (226,158)              109,993               (795,405)              
Public Health (4,442,345)            (445,772)              -                           (4,888,117)           
Total (350,173,355)$      (25,378,798)$       5,916,657$          (369,635,496)$     

Net Book Value
December 31, 

2020
December 31, 

2021
Land 33,631,664$         34,149,012$        
Landfill Sites 845,661                817,216               
Buildings 125,917,788         123,959,722        
Infrastructure

Roads 164,670,876         161,928,328        
Bridges 53,031,364           54,124,252          
Culverts 11,392,639           11,941,823          
Structural Walls 285,256                275,536               
Traffic Lights 2,278,678             3,616,279            
Trails 195,497                184,469               
Parking Lots 2,384,570             2,410,943            

Vehicles & Machinery
Licensed Equipment 5,651,091             5,387,362            
Unlicensed Equipment 6,111,849             5,233,049            

Furniture & Fixtures 4,843,552             4,959,992            
Technology & Communications 3,401,854             3,205,387            
Library Books 1,420,770             1,308,256            
Wellington Housing Corporation 4,073,325             4,504,750            
Public Health 6,881,431             6,612,228            
Capital Work-in-Progress 7,762,939             9,194,609            
Total 434,780,804$       433,813,213$      
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(a)  Assets Under Construction 

 Assets under construction having a value of $9,194,609 (2020 - $7,762,939) have not been 
amortized.  Amortization of these assets will commence when the asset is available for use. 

 
(b)    Write-Down of Tangible Capital Assets and Loss on Disposal 

 The write-down of tangible capital assets during the year was $0 (2020 - $0). The loss on 
disposal of assets during the year was $2,607 (2020 - $514,770). 

 

12. ACCUMULATED SURPLUS 

Accumulated surplus shown on the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position is analyzed below:   

As at December 31 2021 2020
$ $

Invested in Tangible Capital Assets 433,813,213        434,780,804        
Invested in Capital Fund 25,228,772          15,868,884          
Public Health Unit (Note 16) 1,327,140            1,049,918            
Contingecy Reserve Recovery of Keep Well Loan 660,608               855,044               
Amounts to be Recovered
   From Future Revenues
      Net Long-Term Liabilities (32,566,214)         (34,587,574)         
      Post-Employment Benefits (506,981)              (2,359,915)           
      Landfill Liability (908,819)              (121,850)              
      Other Long-Term Liabilities (45,065)                (90,129)                
   From Reserve Funds
      Post-Employment Benefits (1,955,785)           -                           
      Landfill Liability (9,281,327)           (8,491,715)           
      WSIB (1,394,249)           (1,361,104)           
Total Surplus 414,371,293        405,542,363        

Capital 67,743,970          56,652,635          
Contingencies and Stabilization 28,767,078          25,065,117          
Total Reserves 96,511,048          81,717,752          

Landfill Closure and Post Closure 9,281,327 8,491,715            
Housing Regeneration 4,263,999            4,207,820            
Workplace Safety and Insurance 3,914,280            3,731,534            
Public Health Debt Retirement 2,914,368            2,854,327            
Post-Employment Benefit 1,955,785            
Homeownership Loan 492,768               202,543               
Museum Donations 240,275               209,675               
Logan Donation 148,916               148,792               
Library Donations 102,957               100,657               
Wellington Terrace Donations 84,576                 77,797                 
Short Term Disability/Employee Benefits -                           2,703,137            
Total Reserve Funds 23,399,251          22,727,997          

Accumulated Surplus  $     534,281,592  $      509,988,112 

Reserves set aside by Council for:

Reserve Funds set aside for specific purposes by Council for:

Surplus:
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13. TAXATION 

Under PS3510, taxes receivable and tax revenue are recognized when they meet the definition of 
an asset, the tax is authorized and the taxable event has occurred. 

2021 2020
$ $

Property Tax Levy          108,828,100 105,612,800
Supplementary & Omitted Taxes 2,811,338 2,518,533
Payment in Lieu of Taxes 874,499 835,356
Other                   35,210                   31,679 

         112,549,147          108,998,368 
Less:
Property Taxes written off as uncollectible (1,277,823) (942,138)
Provision for Assessment at Risk 573,630 281,021

(704,193) (661,117)
Tax Revenue recognized 111,844,954$      108,337,251$      

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended December 31, 2021 
  

 
 

20

14. PROVINCIAL AND FEDERAL GOVERNMENT TRANSFERS  

 The government transfers reported on the Consolidated Statement of Operations are: 

2021 2020

$ $
Provincial Government Transfers
        Affordable Housing Construction Funding 176,703         201,314          
        COCHI Community Housing Initiative 1,488,054      -                 
        Community Homelessness Prevention Initiative, SHEEP 4,024,779      3,917,657       
        Community Policing Partnership, RIDE, 1000 Officers, Court Security 265,286         223,384          
        Covid Funding - Air Quality (Capital) 562,123         -                 
        Covid Funding - Children's Services 57,416          2,097,618       
        Covid Funding - Housing Services 5,639,726      2,202,409       
        Covid Funding - Long Term Care 2,671,190      1,830,086       
        Covid Funding - Safe Restart Corporate 1,449,108      2,311,900       
        Health Unit – Ministry of Children and Youth Services 396,575         825,987          
        Health Unit – Ministry of Health and Long Term Care 9,284,079      5,992,034       
        Library Operating Grant 141,275         141,275          
        Long Term Care Operating Subsidy 10,379,359    9,426,448       
        Ministry of Education Funding Childcare 21,718,956    19,339,651     
        Ministry of Housing-SIF, IAH, SHIP, OPHI 692,645         1,791,727       
        Museum Operating Grant & Other 57,589          70,739           
        Ontario Community Infrastructure Fund (OCIF) 3,170,036      549,964          
        Ontario Municipal Partnership Fund (OMPF) 1,089,700      1,281,900       
        Ontario Works Administration Subsidy 4,844,686      4,831,041       
        Ontario Works Benefit Subsidy 13,929,254    17,701,452     
        OPHI Ontario Priorities Housing Initiative 1,346,140      -                 
        Reinvestment Funding - Children's Early Years 809,272         -                 
        Strong Communities Rent Supplement 582,167         540,419          
        Waste Diversion Ontario, Stewardship Ontario, OTS Tire 1,273,302      1,057,159       
        Other 1,265,103      1,889,088       
Provincial Government Transfers 87,314,523    $78,223,252

Federal Government Transfers
        Canada Community Building Fund 4,588,227      2,676,722       
        Canada Summer Job Grant - Economic Development 2,994            -                 
        Citizenship and Immigration Canada Subsidy 501,395         456,175          
        CMHC Seed Funding - Continuum of Care (Capital) 89,625          -                 
        Covid Funding - Ontario Works 5,820            19,465           
        FCM Funding - Climate Change/Asset Management (6,186)           92,901           
        Federal Block Funding Housing 2,462,228      2,507,768       
        Health Unit - Public Health Agency of Canada 11,924          19,428           
        Homeless Partnering Strategy 403,464         279,438          
        Smart Cities 123,808         61,169           
Federal Government Transfers $8,183,299 $6,113,066
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15. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND COMMITMENTS  

In the normal course of its operations, the County is subject to various litigations and claims.  The 
ultimate outcome of these claims cannot be determined at this time. 

The County has approved a grant of 20% of eligible costs to a maximum of $5.0 million for the 
redevelopment of Groves Memorial Community Hospital (GMCH) in the Township of Centre 
Wellington.  As of December 31, 2021 the sum of $3,677,306 (2020 - $3,663,531) has been paid to 
GMCH, leaving an outstanding commitment of $1,322,694 (2020 - $1,336,469).  

In January of 2020, the County provided a $2,300,000 Obligations Guarantee for the Southwestern 
Integrated Fibre Technology (SWIFT) programme. This guarantee allowed SWIFT to obtain a credit 
facility and continue work on improving rural broadband service to Wellington County. This work is 
expected to be complete by November 2022 and the guarantee will be discharged at this time. 
 

16. GOVERNMENT PARTNERSHIP 

The County of Wellington is a partner in the Wellington-Dufferin-Guelph Health Unit.  The County 
provides 32.0% (2020 - 32.0%) of the municipal funding to the Health Unit for the Cost Shared 
Mandatory and related programmes, and is responsible for a similar share of the assets, liabilities 
and municipal position of the Health Unit.  Based on updated 2016 Census information, the County 
share is 32.0% except for the share of the long-term loan which remains at 32.7%.  The County's 
share of the results of the Health Unit's financial activities for the year and its financial position at 
year-end have been consolidated in these financial statements.  At December 31, 2021, the Health 
Unit's financial results and financial position are as follows: 

2021 2020
$ $

Financial Assets              8,017,479              5,567,985 
Liabilities (8,851,225) (8,461,004)
Non-Financial Assets            20,699,931            21,557,543 
Accumulated Surplus            19,866,185            18,664,524 

Revenues            40,075,746            31,015,019 
Expenses            38,874,085            30,128,513 
Annual Surplus              1,201,661                 886,506 

The County Share of the Health Unit’s assets, liabilities and accumulated surplus are as follows: 
 

2021 2020
$ $

Financial Assets              2,565,594              1,781,756 
Accounts Payable and Deferred Revenue (1,250,204) (748,820)
Non-Financial Assets                   11,750                   16,982 
Share of Health Unit (Note 12)              1,327,140 1,049,918
Long-Term Debt (County share remains at 32.7%) (1,090,163) (1,465,581)
Post-Employment Liability (Note 7) (492,027) (526,354)
Invested in Tangible Capital Assets (Note 11)              6,612,228              6,881,431 
Accumulated Surplus              6,357,178              5,939,414 

 

On December 19, 2012, the County entered into a Financing Agreement with the Wellington-Dufferin-
Guelph Public Health Unit, the County of Dufferin and the City of Guelph, to finance the County 
portion of the cost of building the two new facilities at Chancellors Way, Guelph, and Broadway, 
Orangeville.  The Financing Agreement allows for quarterly advances of capital by the County of 
Wellington to Public Health beginning in January 2013, until the completion of the new facilities.  The 
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total amount of the advances from all obligated municipalities will not exceed $24,400,000 and based 
on 2011 Census population information, the County of Wellington’s obligation is 32.7% or 
$8,000,000.  The interest rate on the loan repayment from the Health Unit to the County will be 3.34% 
per annum, and the term and amortization of the loan will be twenty years.  The whole or any part of 
the capital financing under this agreement may be prepaid at any time without penalty or bonus and 
the Health Unit has made three prepayments; December 2014 - $490,500, April 2017 - $611,964 
and August 2019 - $1,665,800. These amounts have been transferred to the County’s Public Health 
Debt Retirement Reserve Fund.  At December 31, 2021 the balance of the loan receivable is 
$1,090,163 (2020 - $1,465,581). 

 

17. PUBLIC LIABILITY INSURANCE 

The County has a comprehensive programme of risk identification, evaluation and control to 
minimize the risk of injury to its employees and third parties and to minimize the risk of damage to 
its property and the property of others.  

The County’s purchased general liability insurance policy is $25,000,000 per occurrence with no 
aggregate.  The environmental liability policy is the maximum that can be purchased at $3,000,000 
per occurrence with an aggregate of $5,000,000.   The County’s licensed fleet is insured with liability 
coverage of $25,000,000.  The deductible (self–insurance) is $10,000 on fleet policies and $50,000 
on property and liability.  The County also carries a legal expense reimbursement policy that covers 
100% of legal fees to a maximum of $100,000 per claim with an annual aggregate of $250,000. 

Based on claims received to December 31, 2021, the maximum deductible exposure to the County 
is estimated at $220,609.  These claims have not been accrued in the Financial Statements because 
the outcome of these claims is not known and the loss will be accounted for in the period in which 
the loss, if any, becomes likely and can be reasonably estimated.  For claims not covered by 
purchased insurance, the County has a Contingency and Stabilization Reserve, which as at 
December 31, 2021 totaled $16,961,938 (2020 - $6,022,715). 

 

18.   PENSION AGREEMENTS 

The County makes contributions to the Ontario Municipal Employees Retirement Fund (OMERS), 
which is a multi-employer plan, on behalf of approximately 676 (2020 - 678) members of its staff.  
The plan is a defined benefit plan, which specifies the amount of retirement benefit to be received 
by the employees, based on the length of service and rates of pay. 

Contributions of employees with a normal retirement age of 65 were being made at a rate of 9.0% 
for earnings up to the yearly maximum pensionable earnings of $61,600 and at a rate of 14.6% for 
earnings over the yearly maximum.  

The County’s contribution to OMERS for 2021 was $4,308,735 (2020 - $4,169,595) for current 
service and past service costs and is included as an expense on the Consolidated Statement of 
Operations.  Employee contribution to OMERS in 2021 was $4,308,735 (2020 – $4,169,595). 

As per PSAB 3250.111, the County of Wellington is current with all payments to OMERS, therefore, 
there is neither a surplus or deficit with the County’s pension plan contributions.  

As at December 31, 2021, the OMERS Primary Plan had a funded ratio of assets to pension 
obligations of 97% (2020 – 97%). The OMERS pension plan funding deficit at December 31, 2021 
was $3.1 billion (2020– $3.2 billion). 

 

19. SOCIAL HOUSING PROPERTIES 

The County has title to the 1,189 social housing units of the former Wellington-Guelph Housing 
Authority.  The units are located in the City of Guelph and throughout the County.  The related debt 
on these units remains with the Province of Ontario.  Of the $2,462,227 (2020 - $2,507,769) in federal 
government subsidies provided to the County for social housing, $556,065 (2020 - $590,600) is 
retained by the province to fund the associated debt servicing costs. 
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The County owns 100% of the shares of Wellington Housing Corporation which owns 440 King Street 
East in Mount Forest.  440 King Street is a 39-unit townhouse complex that is split approximately 
50/50 between rent-geared-to-income (RGI) and affordable rental units.  At December 31, 2021 the 
mortgage outstanding was $357,300 (2020 - $489,655). 

 

20. BUDGET DATA 

The budget data presented in these consolidated financial statements is based upon the 2021 
operating and capital budgets approved by Council on January 27, 2021 and capital budget 
amendments made in 2021 in the amount of $3,807,900 (2020 - $174,000) that were approved by 
Council throughout the year.  Amortization was not included in the approved budget however it has 
been included in the consolidated financial statements budget based on the estimated annual 
amortization presented to Council prior to budget approval per Ontario Regulation 284/09.  The 
following chart reconciles the approved budget to the budget figures reported in these consolidated 
financial statements. 

2021 Budget 2020 Budget
$ $

Revenues
 Operating Budget 234,944,600              231,978,600              
Capital Budget 38,179,300                38,985,200                
Health Unit and WHC Budget 10,970,217                7,045,715                 

Less:
Transfers from other funds (23,647,700)               (26,831,100)               
New debt financing (3,850,000)                (1,825,000)                
Internal recoveries (7,534,800)                (7,384,000)                

Total Revenues 249,061,617              241,969,415              

Expenses
Operating Budget 234,944,600              231,978,600              
Capital Budget 38,179,300                38,985,200                
Amortization 26,000,000                23,000,000                
Health Unit and WHC Budget 10,821,020                6,518,715                 

Less:
Transfer to other funds (27,412,500)               (25,829,701)               
Capital Expenses (38,179,300)               (38,985,200)               
Debt principal payments (3,714,000)                (3,934,000)                
Internal charges (7,385,400)                (7,253,600)                

Total Expenses 233,253,720              224,480,014              

Annual Surplus 15,807,897                17,489,401                

 

21.  COMPARATIVE FIGURES 

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to the current year’s presentation. 
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22.  SEGMENTED INFORMATION 

The County of Wellington is a diversified municipal government institution that is responsible for 
ensuring the provision of a wide range of services to its citizens, including police, roads, solid waste 
services, ambulance, public health, child care, social housing, Ontario Works, homes for the aged, 
museum, library and planning. 
 
County services are provided by departments and their activities are reported in the Consolidated 
Statement of Operations.  Certain departments have been separately disclosed in the segmented 
information in the following schedule.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS� REPORT 

To the Members of Board of Directors Wellington Housing Corporation 

We have audited the financial statements of Wellington Housing Corporation (the Entity), 
which comprise: 

 the statement of financial position as at December 31, 2021 

 the statement of operations and changes in accumulated surplus for the year then ended 

 the statement of changes in net financial assets for the year then ended 

 the statement of cash flows for the year then ended 

 and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting 

policies 
(Hereinafter referred to as the �financial statements�). 
 
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, 
the financial position of the Entity as at December 31, 2021, and its results of operations and 
changes in accumulated surplus, its changes in net financial assets and its cash flows for the 
year then ended in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards. 

Basis for Opinion  

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards.  
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the �Auditors� 
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements� section of our auditors� report.   

We are independent of the Entity in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant 
to our audit of the financial statements in Canada and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our opinion. 
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Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial 
Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards and for such 
internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Entity�s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends 
to liquidate the Entity or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Entity�s financial reporting 
process. 

Auditors� Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as 
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 
auditors� report that includes our opinion.  

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always 
detect a material misstatement when it exists.  

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in 
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of 
users taken on the basis of the financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we 
exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.  

We also: 
 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether 

due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  

The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for 
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Entity's internal control.  
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 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of 

accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Entity's ability 
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are 
required to draw attention in our auditors� report to the related disclosures in the financial 
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions 
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors� report. However, 
future events or conditions may cause the Entity to cease to continue as a going concern. 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

 Communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any 
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

 

 

Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants 
 
Waterloo, Canada 

May 12, 2022 
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Wellington Housing Corporation  
Statement of Financial Position 
 
 

As at December 31 
2021 

$ 
2020 

$ 
 

 
Assets
Financial Assets
Cash and Cash Equivalents (Note 3) 855,307 987,164
Accounts Receivable (Note 4) 151,144 218,814
Portfolio Investments (Note 3) 103,096 87,387
Total Financial Assets 1,109,547 1,293,365

Liabilities
Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities 91,669 242,613
Deferred Revenue 12,325 14,439
Mortgage Payable (Note 5) 357,300 489,655
Total Liabilities 461,294 746,707

Net Financial Assets 648,253 546,658

Non Financial Assets
Tangible Capital Assets (Note 6) 4,504,750 4,073,325

Contingencies and commitments (Note 7)

Accumulated Surplus (Note 8) 5,153,003 4,619,983



The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements 2

 
Wellington Housing Corporation  
Statement of Operations and Changes in Accumulated Surplus 
 
 

For the year ended December 31 
(Note 9) 
Budget 

$ 

 
2021 

$ 

 
2020 

$ 

Revenues
Rental revenues 248,100 283,937 212,159
Municipal operating subsidies 711,900 711,900 749,650
Provincial capital subsidies 450,000
Interest and other 10,200 22,655 13,904
Total revenues 970,200 1,018,492 1,425,713

Expenses
Office and general 28,400 28,826 14,413
Professional fees 15,100 11,139 11,433
Management fees 30,000 28,596 32,288
Repairs and maintenance 325,600 133,267 119,028
Utilities 22,000 18,827 19,702
Insurance 13,000 14,807 11,960
Interest and bank charges 3,900 3,559 5,515
Amortization 226,158 166,934
Loss on disposal of tangible capital assets 20,293 132,696
Total expenses 438,000 485,472 513,969

Excess of revenue over expenses 532,200 533,020 911,744
Accumulated surplus, beginning of year 4,619,983 4,619,983 3,708,239
Accumulated surplus, end of year 5,152,183 5,153,003 4,619,983



The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements 3

 
Wellington Housing Corporation  
Statement of Changes in Net Financial Assets 
 
 

For the year ended December 31 

(Note 9) 
Budget 

$ 

 
2021 

$ 

 
2020 

$ 
 

Excess of revenue over expenses 532,200 533,020 911,744
Loss on disposal of tangible capital assets 20,293 132,696
Acquisition of tangible capital assets (638,000) (677,876) (1,776,472)
Amortization of tangible capital assets 226,158 166,934

Increase (decrease) in net financial assets (105,800) 101,595 (565,098)
Net financial assets, beginning of year 546,658 546,658 1,111,756

Net financial assets, end of year 440,858 648,253 546,658



The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements 4

Wellington Housing Corporation  
Statement of Cash Flows 

 
For the year ended December 31 2021 

$ 
2020 

$ 

Cash provided by (used in):
Operating activities:
Excess of revenue over expenses 533,020 911,744
Items not involving cash:

Amortization 226,158 166,934
Loss on disposal of tangible capital assets 20,293 132,696

Net change in non cash working capital items (85,388) 427,414
Net cash provided by operating activities 694,083 1,638,788

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of tangible capital assets (677,876) (1,776,472)
Increase in portfolio investments (15,709) (6,267)
Net cash used in investing activities (693,585) (1,782,739)

Cash flows from financing activities
Long term debt repaid (132,355) (130,993)
Net cash used in financing activities (132,355) (130,993)

Net change in cash and cash equivalents (131,857) (274,944)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 987,164 1,262,108
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year 855,307 987,164
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Wellington Housing Corporation  
Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the year ended December 31, 2021 
 

 
1. AUTHORITY AND PURPOSE  

The Wellington Housing Corporation (the �Corporation�) is incorporated with share capital under the 
Ontario Business Corporations Act to provide, operate and construct housing accommodation primarily for 
persons of low and moderate income.   

The Corporation operates the following non-profit property under Parts VI and VII of the Housing Services 
Act (HAS): 440 King Street East, Mount Forest, ON.  

The Corporation�s shares are 100% owned by the County of Wellington. The County is also the Service 
manager for the Corporation. The Corporation is exempt from tax under the Federal Income Tax Act.   
  

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  

As an entity controlled by a local government, the Corporation is required to follow PSA standards. The 
financial statements have been prepared in accordance with public sector accounting standards.  

  
(a) Basis of accounting   

  
The Corporation follows the accrual method of accounting for revenues and expenses.  Revenues are 
normally recognized in the year in which they are earned.  Expenses are recognized as they are incurred 
and are measurable as a result of receipt of goods or services and/or the creation of a legal obligation to 
pay.   
  
(b) Tangible capital assets   
 

Tangible capital assets are recorded at cost which includes amounts that are directly attributable to 
acquisition, construction, development or betterment of the asset.  The cost, less residual value, of the 
tangible capital assets, excluding land, is amortized on a straight line basis over their estimated useful 
lives as follows:  
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Wellington Housing Corporation  
Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the year ended December 31, 2021 
 
 
2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

Major Asset Classification Component Breakdown
 Useful Life -  

Years  

Land  N/A 
Buildings Structure 15 to 50 
 Exterior 20 to 40 
 Interior 15 to 40 
 Site Elements 10 to 30 
 Leasehold Improvements Lease Term 
Infrastructure Parking Lots - Asphalt 20 
 Parking Lots - Gravel 10 
Furniture & Fixtures  15 
Technology & 
Communications 

 5 

  

(c) Contributions of tangible capital assets  
 
All assets contributed to the Corporation are recorded at their fair value at the time of contribution. Revenue 
at an equal amount is recognized at the time of contribution.   
  

 
(d) Government transfers   

   
Government transfers are received from the Service Manager and the Province for the provision of social 
housing services, building construction and other capital expenditures. Government transfers are 
recognized as revenue in the financial statements when the transfer is authorized, any eligibility criteria 
are met and a reasonable estimate of the amount can be made except, when and to the extent that, 
stipulations by the transferor give rise to an obligation that meet the definition of a liability. Government 
transfers that meet the definition of a liability are recorded as deferred revenue on Statement of Financial 
Position and recognized as revenue on Statement of Operations as the liability is extinguished.  

  
(e) Rental Revenue  

  
Rental and other revenue is recognized at the time the services are provided.  
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Wellington Housing Corporation  
Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the year ended December 31, 2021 
 
 

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

(f) Investments   
 

Investments consist of equity and bond funds and are carried at cost. Losses are recognized when the 
decline in market value is other than temporary. Gains and losses on investments are recorded when the 
investment is sold and interest is recorded when received or receivable.   

  
(g) Cash and cash equivalents   
   
Cash and cash equivalents include short-term investments with a term to maturity of 90 days or less at 
acquisition.   
 
(h) Use of estimates  
  
The preparation of financial statements, requires management to make estimates and assumptions that 
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at 
the dates of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the 
reporting periods.  Actual results could differ from those estimates.    

  

3. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND PORTFOLIO INVESTMENTS   

Total cash and cash equivalents of $855,307 (2020 - $987,164) are reported on the Statement of Financial 
Position at cost.   

  
Total bond and equity investments of $103,096 (2020 - $87,387) are reported on the Statement of Financial 
Position at cost and have a market value of $123,689 (2020 - $104,202).  
  
  

4. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE  

Accounts receivable recorded on the Statement of Financial Position are composed of the following:   

 2021 
$ 

2020 
$ 

GST/HST Receivable 59,654 117,774  

Rent, net of allowance $2,982 (2020 - $2,982) 
 

1,490               5,040  

Provincial Subsidy 90,000 90,000 

Deposit Receivable - 6,000 

Total 151,144 218,814 
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Wellington Housing Corporation  
Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the year ended December 31, 2021 
 

5. MORTGAGE PAYABLE 

The mortgage payable is held by the Canadian Mortgage and Housing Corporation at an interest rate of 
0.67% with monthly installments of $11,262 (2020 - $11,262) principal and interest and due August 2024.  

The mortgage payable is secured by real estate and chattels owned by the Corporation with a carrying 
value of $4,504,750 (2020 - $4,073,325).  

Total interest on the mortgage payable which is reported on the Statement of Operations is $2,868 (2020 
- $4,917). 

Principal payments required on mortgage payable for the next three years are due as follows: 
  

 Principal 
$

 2022 
2023 
2024 

133,168  
134,062  
90,070 

  
Total 357,300 
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Wellington Housing Corporation  
Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the year ended December 31, 2021 
 

6. TANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS 

Tangible capital assets are identified by asset type. The cost of tangible capital assets, their accumulated 
amortization and net book value are disclosed in the following schedule: 

 
  

Cost
Balance at 

December 31, 2020 Additions Disposals
Balance at 

December 31, 2021
Land 304,679$                 -$                       -$                   304,679$                 
Buildings 4,093,828$              628,089$                (91,295)$            4,630,622$              
Infrastructure Parking Lot 282,380$                 64,382$                  -$                   346,762$                 
Furniture & Fixtures 54,226$                   -$                       (38,991)$            15,235$                  
Capital Work-in-Progress 17,452$                   2,857$                    (17,452)$            2,857$                    
Total 4,752,565$              695,328$                (147,738)$          5,300,155$              

Accumulated Amortization
Balance at 

December 31, 2020 Disposals
Amortization 

Expense
Balance at 

December 31, 2021
Land -$                        -$                       -$                   -$                        
Buildings (590,256.00)$           71,002$                  (207,984)$          (727,238)$               
Infrastructure Parking Lots (52,579.00)$             -$                       (13,335)$            (65,914)$                 
Furniture & Fixtures (36,405.00)$             38,991$                  (4,839)$              (2,253)$                   
Total (679,240.00)$           109,993$                (226,158)$          (795,405)$               

Net Book Value
Balance at 

December 31, 2020
Balance at 

December 31, 2021
Land 304,679$                 304,679$                 
Buildings 3,503,572$              3,903,384$              
Infrastructure Parking Lots 229,801$                 280,848$                 
Furniture & Fixtures 17,821$                   12,982$                  
Capital Work-in-Progress 17,452$                   2,857$                    
Total 4,073,325$              4,504,750$              

Amortization

Cost

Net Book Value
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Wellington Housing Corporation  
Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the year ended December 31, 2021 
 

 
 

7. CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS 
 
In 2019, Wellington Housing Corporation entered into a contribution agreement with The Corporation of 
the County of Wellington (the �County�) to construct and operate a 4 unit affordable housing project on the 
440 King Street, Mount Forest site.  The County provided $900,000 in a forgivable loan for the Project. 
The loan and any accrued interest (8% per annum) are forgivable after 25 years as long as all conditions 
of the agreement have been met during this term. The terms of the forgivable loan include that the 
Corporation is to construct and operate the Project as affordable housing units for a term of twenty-five 
years. As per the agreement, funding of $450,000 was disbursed in 2019 as the initial milestone of having 
a signed contribution agreement in place was met. Additional funding $450,000 was disbursed in 2020 
upon completion of structural framing and confirmation of occupancy.  
 
 

8. ACCUMULATED SURPLUS 
 
Accumulated surplus shows on the Statement of Financial Position is analyzed below: 
 
As at December 31 2021 

($)
2020 
($) 

Surplus:   
Invested in Tangible Capital Assets 4,504,750 4,073,325 
Invested in Capital Fund 87,626 422,883 
Mortgage Payable (357,300) (489,655) 

Total Surplus 4,235,076 4,006,553 
  

Reserves set aside by the Corporation Board for:   
WHC Capital Reserve 917,927 

 
613,430 

 917,927 613,430 
  

Accumulated Surplus 5,153,003 4,619,983 
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Wellington Housing Corporation  
Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the year ended December 31, 2021 
 

9. BUDGET DATA 

The budget data presented in these financial statements is based upon the 2021 operating and capital 
budgets approved by County of Wellington Council on January 28, 2021. Amortization was not 
contemplated on development of the budget and, as such, has not been included. The chart below 
reconciles the approved budget to the budget figures reported in these financial statements. 
 
 2021 Budget 

($)
2020 Budget 

($)
Revenues   

Operating budget 970,200 942,000 
Capital budget 638,000 508,000 

Less:   
Transfers from other funds (638,000) (508,000) 

Total revenues 970,200 942,000 
  

Expenses   
Operating budget 970,200 942,000 
Capital budget 638,000 508,000 

Less:   
Transfer to other funds (400,000) (400,000) 
Capital expenses (638,000) (508,000) 
Debt principal repayments (132,200) (127,000) 

Total expenses 438,000                   415,000 

Annual Surplus 532,200 527,000 

10. IMPACT OF COVID-19 

On March 11, 2020, the World Health Organization declared the Coronavirus COVID-19 (COVID-19) 
outbreak a pandemic. The pandemic has resulted in significant financial, market and societal impacts in 
Canada and around the world. 

The ultimate duration and magnitude of the COVID-19 pandemic's impact on the Corporation�s operations 
and financial position is not known at this time.  

These impacts could include a decline in future cash flows, changes to the value of assets and liabilities, 
and the use of accumulated surpluses to sustain operations. An estimate of the financial effect of the 
pandemic on the Corporation is not practicable at this time. 
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KPMG LLP
120 Victoria Street South
Suite 600
Kitchener, ON N2G 2B3 
Canada
Tel 519-747-8800
Fax 519-747-8830

    INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

To the Members of Council, Inhabitants and Ratepayers of the Corporation of the 
County of Wellington

We have audited the financial statements of the Trust Funds The Corporation of the 

County of Wellington (the Entity), which comprise:

the statement of financial position as at December 31, 2021

the statement of operations for the year then ended

and notes to the  financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting

policies

(Hereinafter referred to as the “financial statements”).

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material 

respects, the financial position of the Entity as at December 31, 2021, and its results of 

operations, for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian public sector 

accounting standards. 

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing 

standards.  Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the 

“Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements” section of our 

auditors’ report.  

We are independent of the Entity in accordance with the ethical requirements that are 

relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Canada and we have fulfilled our other 

ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 

provide a basis for our opinion.    

KPMG LLP, an Ontario limited liability partnership and member firm of the KPMG global organization of independent 
member firms affiliated with KPMG International Limited, a private English company limited by guarantee. 
KPMG Canada provides services to KPMG LLP.
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Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the 

Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 

statements in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards and for 

such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation 

of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 

error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the 

Entity’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related 

to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management 

either intends to liquidate the Entity or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative 

but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Entity’s financial 

reporting process.

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 

statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, 

and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 

conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will 

always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually 

or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 

decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, 

we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the

audit. 

We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, 

whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to 

those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 

basis for our opinion. 

The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than 

for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 

omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design 

audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose 

of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Entity's internal control. 
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Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness

of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.

Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis

of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material

uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on

the Entity's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material

uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the

related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,

to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up

to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions may cause

the Entity to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements,

including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the

underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters,

the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any

significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants

Waterloo, Canada

May 26, 2022 
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County of Wellington
Trust Funds – Statement of Financial Position 
As at December 31, 2021 
 

Comfort Money County Wellness 
Centre

Safe 
Communities

2021 2020

$ $ $ $ $
Financial Assets
Cash and Bank                49,716 8,995                    44,553              103,264     122,848     

Liabilities 
Accounts Payable  -  -                         - -                 -                 

Balance                49,716 8,995                    44,553              103,264     122,848     

  
 

County of Wellington
Trust Funds - Statement of Operations 
For the year ended December 31, 2021 
  

 
Comfort 
Money

County 
Wellness Centre

Safe 
Communities

2021 2020

$ $ $ $ $

Balance at the beginning of the year 46,112                   5,052               71,684      122,848    129,754 

Source of Funds:
Deposits     158,415                 15,003                    440      173,858    195,141 

Use of Funds
Withdrawals 154,811                 11,060               27,571      193,442 202,048

Balance at the end of the year 49,716 8,995               44,553 103,264 122,847
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Notes to the Trust Fund Financial Statements
For the Year Ended December 31, 2021 

1.     ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 

These trust funds have not been consolidated with the financial statements of the County of Wellington 
(the "County"). 

 
These financial statements reflect the financial activity and financial position of funds held in trust by the 
County for residents of the Wellington Terrace Long Term Care Home (Comfort Money), for County staff 
who are the members of the County Wellness Centre and for the Wellington County Safe Communities 
Committee. 
 
In October 2012 the Safe Communities Trust fund was established.  These funds are held in trust by the 
County for use by the Wellington County Safe Communities Committee. 

 
Funds held in trust are maintained in separate bank accounts by the County on behalf of the Wellington 
Terrace residents and Safe Communities Committee.  Net County Wellness Centre membership proceeds 
are maintained in the County’s general bank account.  Interest is credited to the funds and allocated to the 
Wellington Terrace residents, County Wellness Centre members and Wellington County Safe 
Communities Committee on the basis of their individual balances in the fund. 
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









































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































 
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





  

 









    

    

    

    

     




    



    

     

     
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





  

 









    

    

    

    

    

     



    

    

    

    

    

    

     


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


































































































































































































 











  

 









    

    

    

    

     



    

    

    

    

    

    

     




    



    

     

     

























































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































 
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





  

 









    

    

     
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



  

 









    

    

    

    

    

    

     




    

     
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    

    

    

    

     



    

    
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    

    

     




    



    

    

    

     

     
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





  

 









    

    

    

    

    

     


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    

    

     




    



    

     

     
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







  

 









    

    

    

    

    

    

     



    

    
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     




    



    

    

    

    

     

     
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







  

 









    

    

    

    

     



    

    

    

    
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    

    

    
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

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       COMMITTEE REPORT

To: Chair and Members of the Administration, Finance and Human Resources Committee
From: Ken DeHart, County Treasurer
Date:           Tuesday, May 17, 2022
Subject: 2023 Budget Timetable

Background:
The process for developing the 2023-2032 ten-year plan will begin shortly at the staff level.  It is 
proposed that each of the standing Committees, Boards and Council review the preliminary ten-year
operating and capital plan in November.  The detailed budgets and updated ten-year plan will then be 
prepared in December and reviewed by the Committees and Boards in January.  In keeping with past 

, a special meeting of County Council to review the budget in its entirety is proposed for 
January 9, 2022.

Proposed user fees and charges for 2023 will be submitted to Committees and Boards for review and 
approval in November 2022.  This will allow by-laws to be passed for any fee changes effective January 
1, 2023.

The proposed timetable for the 2023 budget and ten-year plan update is attached.

Recommendation: 
That the attached 2023 Budget process timetable be approved.

Respectfully submitted,

Ken DeHart, CPA, CGA
County Treasurer



 

COUNTY OF WELLINGTON
2023 BUDGET AND 10 YEAR PLAN SCHEDULE 

 
 

Description Deadline/Date 
Treasury staff update 10 year plan model and salary model Summer 2022 

Departments submit major 10 year operating budget items, 
draft 10 year capital forecast and proposed 2023 user fees to 
Treasury 
 

September 9, 2022 

Staff Advisory Committee review of preliminary 10 year plan Mid October 2022 

Preliminary 10 year plan completed Late October 2022 

Staff develop detailed 2023 operating budgets 
 

October - November 2022 

Preliminary 10 year plan and 2023 user fees reviewed by all 
Standing Committees and Boards 
 

November 2022 

AF and HR Committee review of preliminary 10 year plan and 
2023 user fees 
 

November 29, 2022 

County Council adopts 2023 user fees and receives 10 year 
plan for information 
 

December 1, 2022 

CAO & Department Head review of budgets 
 

December 2022 

 
H  A  P  P  Y      N  E  W      Y  E  A  R 

 
Special meeting of County Council to review the 10 year plan 
and 2023 budget 
 

January 9, 2023 

Committee and Board review and approval of 2023 budgets 
and 10 year plan 
 

January 2023 

AF&HR review of budget and 10 year plan and 
recommendation to Council 
 

January 17, 2023 
 

Council review and approval of 2023 budget and final 10 year 
projection 
 

January 26, 2023 

 
 



        COMMITTEE REPORT  
  
  
To:  Chair and Members of the Administration, Finance and Human Resources Committee 
From:  Ken DeHart, County Treasurer 
Date:            Tuesday, May 17, 2022 
Subject:  County Debenture Issue Dated June 2, 2022 
 

Background: 
 
On April 28, 2022 County Council authorized the syndicate of National Bank Financial Inc. (NBF - lead) 
and RBC Dominion Securities Inc. (secondary) to place a debenture issue for the County and for the 
Townships of Centre Wellington and Guelph/Eramosa.  An upper limit of $13.325 million ($Cdn) was 
established.  The Townships of Centre Wellington and Guelph/Eramosa have passed the necessary by-
laws authorizing participation in the issue. 
 
The actual amount required was determined to be $13.325 million and on May 3, 2022 the issue was 
priced.  Issue details are as follows:  
 

 
Participant 

Type of 
Debenture 

 
Term 

 
Amount 

Average 
cost of 

borrowing 
County of 

Wellington 
Instalment 

and 
Refundable  

10 years, based on a 20-year 
amortization  $3,325,000 of the 

principal amount is refundable at the 
end of the 10th year for a term not to 

exceed an additional 10 years 

$6,500,000 
 

3.896% 

Township of 
Centre 

Wellington 

Instalment 10 years $6,000,000 3.751% 

Township of 
Guelph/Eramosa 

Instalment  10 years $825,000 3.751% 

  Total $13,325,000 3.833% 
 
The average cost of borrowing includes commission.  Comparable borrowing costs from previous 
County straight 10 year term issues were 2.255% (November 30, 2021), 3.093% (May 30, 2018), 
2.116% (November 30, 2016), and 2.418% (November 4, 2015).  Comparable borrowing costs from 
previous County 10 year term issues with a balloon payment were 2.465% (November 30, 2021). 
 
Proceeds from the County portion of the issue will be used to fund the growth related portion of the 
Arthur Garage Construction ($6,500,000). 
 
 
 



The debenture issuance process requires certain documents to be signed by the Clerk and Treasurer of 
participating municipalities.  In addition, the necessary debenture by-law has been prepared and will 
be brought forward for approval by County Council on May 26, 2022.  The settlement date is June 2, 
2022 at which point the Townships of Centre Wellington and Guelph/Eramosa will receive their funds.

Attachment:
- Case Study:  County of Wellington C$13.325 million Instalment Debentures

Recommendation:
That the County Clerk and Treasurer be directed to prepare the debenture by-law and sign all 
necessary documents pertaining to the County debenture issue dated June 2, 2022.

Respectfully submitted,

Ken DeHart, CPA, CGA
County Treasurer
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        COMMITTEE REPORT 
   
 
To:  Chair and Members of the Administration, Finance and Human Resources Committee 
From:  Ken DeHart, County Treasurer 
Date:            Tuesday, May 17, 2022 
Subject:  Elora South Inc Tax Increment Equivalent Grant (TIEG) Request 
 

Background: 
This report is intended to provide Committee with an understanding of the financial implications of a Tax 
Increment Equivalent Grant (TIEG) for the entire Elora South expansion project, by way of entering into a 
Financial Assistance Agreement with the Township of Centre Wellington.   
 
Pearle Hospitality, known as Elora South Inc., submitted an application for property tax assistance and filed 
a TIEG request with the Township of Centre of Wellington.  Township Council has approved the TIEG 
application and are preparing to enter into a formal TIEG Agreement with Elora South Inc.   
 
Now that all local approvals are in place, Elora South Inc. and the Township request that the County 
examine the possibility of offering its own tax increment equivalent grant to this development project.  
Under the Planning Act, it is the responsibility of the local municipality to work with applicants and monitor 
the project in all legal conforming aspects set out in their Agreement.  The C
provide financial assistance under its own CIP/TIEG programme upon approval of County Council. 
 
County Economic Development staff 
assistance within the guidelines of  Community Improvement Programme (CIP).  Their 
evaluation determines that the Elora South development is eligible for financial assistance and have 
confirmed the project meets all five criteria stated under the CIP.  The Economic Development staff 
recommendation is to endorse the application and bring the matter to Council for approval. 
  

IP contains a Tax Increment Equivalent Grant (TIEG) programme.  A TIEG is a grant equal to 
the full amount, or a portion of the amount, of the estimated property tax increase after the property is 
redeveloped.  The increase in taxes (or the tax increment) may be calculated by subtracting the municipal 
portion of the property taxes prior to reassessment from the municipal portion of the property taxes after 
reassessment.  Grants are typically provided for a period of 3 to 10 years; however, the maximum value of 
the grant is limited to the total value of eligible costs invested into the development as defined by the 
Planning Act.  A TIEG can stimulate investment by effectively deferring part of the increase in taxation 
associated with reassessment through grants that are equivalent to a portion of the resulting property tax 
increase. 
 
Financial Analysis of Potential Tax Incentives for the Elora South Development  
Elora South Inc. has submitted one application for TIEG assistance.  The project spans two properties which 
are identified in Table 1 of Schedule A, and comprises six phases to be constructed over a 15 year period.  
The phases include multiple structures with many having multiple uses and tax classifications.  Until each 
phase is inspected by the Municipal Property Assessment Corporation (MPAC) and assessed for property 
tax purposes, annual TIEG calculations will be estimates only. 
 



The Township of Centre Wellington has provided the County with some figures and assumptions for the 
proposed development including the pre-project assessed value and property taxes as well as assumptions 
made for the post-project assessed value for the entire development (all figures using 2016 assessed values 
and 2021 tax rates).  County staff have further developed this analysis to breakdown the amount of the 
grant calculation for both the Township and the County portion.  County grants exclude residential 
apartments and condominiums.

Table 1, Schedule A shows that the pre-project assessment of the original (2) properties is $2,220,000
resulting in annual municipal property taxes in 2021 of $31,462 (Township $10,874; County $20,588).  The 
Township is assuming that assessment values will climb to $130,976,791 after the entire development has 
been completed.  Table 2, Schedule A, shows that resulting eligible annual property taxes using 2021 rates
would be $819,021 (Township $487,868; County $331,153).  This results in combined incremental 
municipal taxes of $787,559 for the entire development.  All tax estimates in Schedule A represent eligible 
portions only and exclude all residential tax components for the County, and all Education property tax 
and/or any Special Area Rates where applicable.

The proposed grant from the County will be for a five year term, with grants amounting to 100% of 
incremental taxes in year 1, dropping by 20% each year until taxes return to the full amount in the sixth 
year excluding any residential development components.  This amounts to a total grant amount of 
$931,695 over five years.  Table 3, Schedule A, provides a detailed breakdown of annual grant amounts as if 
the entire project was completed at the same time (using 2021 tax rates).

The Township has approved a grant of 80% of incremental taxes for 10 years on all property class 
improvements.  This amounts to a total grant value of $3,815,952 over 10 years. 

TIEG agreements are structured so that property owners must pay all taxes for the current year and not 
have the tax account in arrears before making a requesting for an annual TIEG rebate.  The Township will
verify the tax account status and provide an invoice to Wellington County for
annually.

Recommendation: 
That a tax increment equivalent grant for Elora South Inc development be approved for eligible commercial 
improvements for a duration of five years; and 

That the incentives amount to 100% of the tax increment in year one; 80% in year two; 60% in year three; 
40% in year four; and 20% in year five; while returning to full taxation in year six; and

That staff be directed to enter into a Financial Assistance Agreement with the Township of Centre 
Wellington for the Elora South Inc Tax Increment Equivalent Grant application.

Respectfully submitted,

Ken DeHart, CPA, CGA
County Treasurer



Current Assessed Values (2016 Base Year CVA) and Current Municipal Taxes (2021 Tax Rates)

Township County Total
11.14500 Commercial 1,970,000       9,649               18,270             27,919 
11.14508 Commercial 250,000          1,225               2,318               3,543
Total 2,220,000       10,874            20,588            31,462 

Estimated Future Assessed Values (2016 Base Year CVA) and Estimated Municipal Taxes (2021 Tax Rates)

Residential Commercial Total Township *
County * 

(Commercial 
Only)

Total

A Condo 60,905,000     -                   60,905,000     200,079          -                   200,079          
B Flat Iron Building 6,649,000       978,757          7,627,757       26,637             9,077               35,714            
C Walser Building -                   1,593,262       1,593,262       7,804               14,776             22,580            
D Hotel 23,355,000     19,021,000     42,376,000     169,890          176,400          346,290          
E Commercial -                   7,081,034       7,081,034       34,683             65,669             100,352          

F/G Parking Garage, Comm/Residential 4,360,000       7,033,738       11,393,738     48,775             65,231             114,006          
Total 95,269,000    35,707,791    130,976,791  487,868          331,153          819,021          

* TIEG amounts include Residential & Commercial Tax for Township portion
* TIEG amounts for County exclude Residential taxes which are not eligible under CIP

Township County Total
476,994          310,565          787,559

Tax increments calculated using 2021 tax rates and 2016 estimated assessed values as provided by MPAC.

Estimated Total Grant Amount Over 10 - 5 Years (2021 Tax Rates)
(If All Phases Were Completed in 2021)

Estimated Annual Municipal Tax Increases Eligible under TIEG Programme

Eligible Annual Tax Increment (all phases)

TABLE THREE

30 Carlton Place

TABLE TWO

Phase
Improvement Description                                                                             

(valuation estimates by MPAC based on data 
provided by Elora South Inc)

MPAC Assessment Estimates (2016 $) Estimated Annual Eligible 2021 Taxation

Roll # Original Property Details Class
Assessed 

Value
Current Taxation

24 Carlton Place

TABLE ONE

Summary of Current and Proposed Future Assessment and Municipal Tax Estimates

Schedule A
Elora South Inc Tax Increment Equivalent Grant (TIEG) Amounts

Township (Residential and Commercial) County (Commercial Only) Total TIEG 

Year 
Taxation 

Increment
TIEG 

Percentage TIEG Estimate
Taxation 

Increment
TIEG 

Percentage
TIEG 

Estimate

1 476,994            80% 381,595          310,565           100% 310,565         692,160            
2 476,994            80% 381,595          310,565           80% 248,452         630,047            
3 476,994            80% 381,595          310,565           60% 186,339         567,934            
4 476,994            80% 381,595          310,565           40% 124,226         505,821            
5 476,994            80% 381,595          310,565           20% 62,113            443,708            
6 476,994            80% 381,595          310,565           0% -                  381,595            
7 476,994            80% 381,595          310,565           0% -                  381,595            
8 476,994            80% 381,595          310,565           0% -                  381,595            
9 476,994 80% 381,595 310,565 0% - 381,595

10 476,994            80% 381,595          310,565           0% -                  381,595            
Total 4,769,940         3,815,952      3,105,650       931,695         4,747,647        



 

 
 COMMITTEE REPORT  
  
  
To:  Chair and Members of the Administration, Finance and Human Resources Committee 
From:  Brendan Ridgeway  Manager of Human Resources  Employee Services   
Date:  May 17, 2022 
Subject:  Joint Accessibility Advisory Committee Meeting Minutes from May 2022 
 

Background:  

The County of Wellington Joint Accessibility Advisory Committee (AAC) provides advice to the County 
and member municipalities on a wide range of municipal processes to help make public services and 
facilities accessible to everyone. 

Recommendation:  
 
THAT the minutes from the May 5, 2022 County of Wellington Joint Accessibility Advisory 

Committee meeting be received for information.  
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 

 
 
Brendan Ridgeway 
Manager of Human Resources  Employee Services 
 
Attachments: 

 May 5, 2022 Joint AAC Meeting Minutes 
 

 
 



Corporation of the County of Wellington 

Joint Accessibility Advisory Committee Minutes 
May 5, 2022 

Microsoft Teams Meeting 

Present: Warden Kelly Linton  
Councillor Mary Lloyd (Chair) 
Matthew Bulmer 
Giverny Charlebois 

 Nancy Dietrich 
 Robin Fletcher 
 Bethany Parkinson 
 Gerald Townsend 
 Lorri Wright 

Regrets: Heather Small 
Irene Van Eenoo 
Councillor James Seeley 
Michele Richardson, Assistant Director of Human Resources  

Guest: Jeff Bunn, Township of Puslinch 
 Emily Embrey and Briana Zur, Age-Friendly Communities 

Staff: Christine Carbone, HR Assistant 
 Brendan Ridgeway, Manager of Human Resources – Employee Services 
 Samantha Pantin, Disability Management Coordinator 

_____________________________________________________________________ 

1. Call to Order 
At 1:30 pm, the Chair called the meeting to order. 

2. Declaration of Pecuniary Interest
There were no declarations of pecuniary interest. 

3. Staff Member Introduction:  Samantha Pantin – Disability Management Coordinator

Samantha Pantin was introduced as the County’s new Disability Management 
Coordinator. In her role she will also be supporting the Accessibility Advisory 
Committee.

 



Accessibility Advisory Minutes
May 5, 2022 

2

4. Age-Friendly Communities Presentation 

The Committee received a presentation from Emi Embrey and Briana Zur on the concept 
of an Age-Friendly Community.

An Age-Friendly Community is recognized by the World Health Organization (WHO) as a 
community that is setup to help seniors live safely, enjoy good health and stay involved
in their community. Features of Age-Friendly Communities include but are not limited 
to:  outdoor areas and public buildings that are pleasant, safe and accessible, housing 
that is affordable and well-designed for seniors, roads and walkways that are accessible 
and kept in good condition, available health and community support services, and 
opportunities for seniors to be socially active. 

The Committee heard about the Age-Friendly Community Committee in the City of 
Waterloo and how a similar approach could work in the Wellington County. 

Recommendation: 
It was suggested that the Committee continue to discuss and explore the concept of an 
Age-Friendly Community Committee covering all of Wellington County. 

5. 2022 Municipal Election 

The Committee reviewed from the Township of Puslinch their policies and procedures 
for the upcoming Municipal election. Feedback was sought as to how to improve or 
enhance the policies from an accessibility perspective. 

The Committee was encouraged to share any additional feedback with Jeff Dunn, 
Deputy Clerk from the Township of Puslinch. 

Recommendation: 
It was suggested and discussed that the design of polling stations should take into 
account those with hearing impairments and to consider such features as the impact of 
plexiglass barriers, lighting, background noise, and distancing. Robin Fletcher from the 
Committee is to send specific recommendations in this area, and these 
recommendations will be shared with the Member Municipalities as well as the 
Committee. 

Member Municipalities are welcome to share their Municipal election policies and 
procedures with the Committee so that accessibility-related feedback can be given. 

6. County of Wellington Accessibility Fund Incentive Programme Update 

It was noted that there have been no requests for funding received to date in 2022. 
Councillor Lloyd will remind Member Municipalities that the fund is available to them.



Accessibility Advisory Minutes
May 5, 2022 
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7. 2021 Accessibility Compliance Report

The County’s 2021 Accessibility Compliance Report was reviewed. As a result of the 
compliance report, the Multi-Year Accessibility Plan has been updated to outline the 
County’s procedure for preventative and emergency maintenance of the accessible 
elements in County buildings, and for dealing with temporary disruptions when 
accessible elements are not in working order.

8. Accessibility Advisory Committee Information on the County’s Wellington Advertiser 
Page

The Committee has a standing feature twice per year on the County’s page of the 
Wellington Advertiser. Ideas were discussed for what to advertise for the upcoming 
feature in Fall 2022. 

9. Adjournment 
At 2:30 pm, the Chair adjourned the meeting.  Next meeting to be held on Thursday, 
September 8, 2022, or at the call of the Chair. 

__________________________
Councillor Mary Lloyd

Chair
County of Wellington

Joint Accessibility Advisory Committee
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Township of Puslinch Memo 

 

To: Accessibility Advisory Committee  

From: Jeff Bunn, Deputy Clerk 

Date: April 20, 2022 

Subject:  2022 Municipal Election  

The purpose of this memorandum is to provide information and seek feedback from the 
County of Wellington Accessibility Advisory Committee related to the Township of 
Puslinch 2022 Municipal Election policies and procedures, facility audits, and website. 
 
In particular, the Township is seeking the feedback of the Accessibility Advisory 
Committee on the following documents/webpages:  

 Policy No. 2014-002  Accessible Election Policy 
 Accessibility Procedures 
 Draft Accessible Voting/Audio Vote Tabulator Procedures 
 Voting Station Review  Accessibility Audit Checklist 
 Election webpages associated with www.puslinch.ca/2022election  

 
The Township welcomes any additional feedback the committee may have to help 
achieve a more accessible 2022 Municipal Election. 
 
POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 
Policy No. 2014-002  Accessible Election Policy 
 
Attached to this memorandum is a copy of Policy No. 2014-002  Accessible Election 
Policy. This policy affirms the Township s commitment to ensuring all persons with 
disabilities are given equal opportunities to the goods and services offered by the 
Township. The Policy specifically highlights the use of assistive devices, support persons, 
service animals, an accessible feedback process, availability of documents in alternative 
formats, the use of notice of service disruptions and accessibility training for election staff. 
 
Accessibility Procedures  
 
Attached to this memorandum is a copy of the Township s Accessibility Procedures. The 
procedures describe all the accessibility requirements outlined under the Municipal 



 
 
 

Elections Act, 1996, the Ontarians with Disabilities Act, 2001 and the Accessibility for 
Ontarians with Disabilities Act, 2005. 
 
Election staff will ensure reasonable efforts are made to provide election information and 
services in a manner that respects the independence and dignity of persons with 
disabilities. Equal opportunity shall be given to all persons to use, benefit and obtain 
election information and services.   
 
The delivery of election information and services to persons with disabilities shall be: 

 emphasized through mandatory election training 
 made accessible by the use of service animals, support persons, assistive devices, 

unless otherwise prohibited by law 
 a component of the standard Election practice 

 
The Procedures go into greater detail about how the Township will implement many of 
the accessible features and awareness throughout the election process. 
 
Draft Accessible Voting/Audio Vote Tabulator Procedures 
 
As in past elections, the Township will be offering assistive accessible voting technology 
for electors who request an accessible ballot. Draft Procedures for use of the technology 
have been created (attached to this memorandum) and will be included in the Township s 
Procedures for the Use of Vote Tabulators.  
 
FACILITY AUDITS 
Voting Station Review  Accessibility Audit Checklist 
 
Section 45 (2) of the Municipal Elections Act states in establishing the locations of voting 
places, the clerk shall ensure that each voting place is accessible to electors with 
disabilities.  As in previous years, the Township has used a checklist (attached to this 
memorandum) to assist with facilitating voting location accessibility audits. 
 
COMMUNICATIONS 
www.puslinch.ca/2022election  
 
The Township has established a dedicated set of webpages to provide the public with 
information related to the 2022 Municipal Election (link provided above). These webpages 
provide specific information for voters, candidates and third-party advertisers. While the 
Township is able to conduct an electronic accessibility scan of the webpages, it would be 
helpful to have members of the Accessibility Advisory Committee conduct a real life  



 
 
 

accessibility review of the pages and provide any feedback on where improvements may 
be made to increase the readability and overall accessibility of the pages. 
 
In addition to the website, the Township also uses print media (i.e., newspaper ads), 
social media (i.e., Facebook and Twitter), as well as electronic and static marquee signs 
to advertise information relating to the municipal election. If there are any other suggested 
mediums that the Township should consider exploring, please provide those ideas for 
further discussions. 
 
 
 



Policy No. 2014-002

Corporate Policy 

Department:  Administration 

Date:  August, 2014  

Subject:    ACCESSIBLE ELECTION POLICY  

           

Policy Statement: 

The Corporation of the Township of Puslinch (hereinafter referred to as the Township) is 
dedicated to improving accessibility, removing barriers for people with disabilities and 
meeting the requirements in all Standards and Regulations set within the Accessibility for 
Ontarians with Disabilities Act, 2005 (hereinafter referred to as the AODA) and the 
Municipal Elections Act, as amended.  

The Township, through the development of policies and procedures will endorse 
accessibility and ensure the needs of those with disabilities are accommodated. 
Consideration will be given to ensure all policies and procedures support independence, 
dignity, integration and equal opportunity. All services shall be delivered in a timely manner 
required of the nature of the service and if special accommodations need to be made.   

Scope: 

This policy is applicable to all Township staff and individuals hired for election purposes.  

Purpose: 

This policy, in accordance with the AODA and all Standards and Regulations and the 
Municipal Elections Act, as amended, demonstrates commitment to ensuring all persons 
with disabilities are given equal opportunities to the goods and services offered by the 
Township. 

The established procedures shall ensure compliance by recognizing the use of assistive 
devices, support persons, service animals, an accessible feedback process, availability of 
documents in an alternate format, notice of service disruptions and applicable accessibility 
training.  

The Township shall incorporate accessibility criteria and features when procuring or 
acquiring goods, services or facilities, except where it is not practicable to do so. 

Reference and Related Documents: 

Accessible Standards for Customer Service & use of Assistive Devices  Corporate Policy 
& Procedure  

Accessible Election Corporate Procedure 



Corporate Procedure

Subject: ACCESSIBLE ELECTION

Purpose Statement:

The procedures describe all the accessibility requirements outlined under the Municipal 
Elections Act, 1996, the Ontarians with Disabilities Act, 2001 and the Accessibility for 
Ontarians with Disabilities Act, 2005.

Election staff will ensure reasonable efforts are made to provide election information and 
services in a manner that respects the independence and dignity of persons with 
disabilities. Equal opportunity shall be given to all persons to use, benefit and obtain 
election information and services.  

The delivery of election information and services to persons with disabilities shall be:

emphasized through mandatory election training
made accessible by the use of service animals, support persons, assistive devices, 
unless otherwise prohibited by law
a component of the standard Election practice

Scope:

These procedures are applicable to all Election Staff performing works on behalf of the 
Township Clerk. 

Definitions:

Barrier is defined by the Accessibility for Ontarians with Disabilities Act, 2005, and means 
anything that prevents a person with a disability from fully participating in all aspects of 
society because of his or her disability, including a physical barrier, an architectural 
barrier, information or communication barrier, an attitudinal barrier, a technological 
barrier, a policy or a practice.

Disability is defined by the Accessibility for Ontarians with Disabilities Act, 2005, and 
means:

(a) any degree of physical disability, infirmity, malformation or disfigurement that is 
caused by bodily injury, birth defect or illness and, without limiting the generality of the 
foregoing, includes diabetes mellitus, epilepsy, a brain injury, any degree of paralysis, 
amputation, lack of physical co-ordination, blindness or visual impediment, deafness 
or hearing impediment, muteness or speech impediment, or physical reliance on a 
guide dog or other animal or on a wheelchair or other remedial appliance or device,

(b) a condition of mental impairment or a developmental disability,



Corporate Procedure

(c) a learning disability, or a dysfunction in one or more of the processes involved in 
understanding or using symbols or spoken language,

(d) a mental disorder, or
(e) an injury or disability for which benefits were claimed or received under the insurance 

plan established under the Workplace and Insurance Act, 1997.

Service Animal as outlined in Ontario Regulation 429/07 is a service animal for a person 
with a disability if it is readily apparent that the animal is used by the person for reasons 
relating to his or her disability; or if the person provides a letter from a physician or nurse 
confirming that the person requires the animal for reasons relating to the disability.

Support Persons as outlined in Ontario Regulation 429/07 means a support person in 
relation to a person with a disability, another person who accompanies him or her in order 
to help with communication, mobility, personal care or medical needs or with access to 
goods or services.

Procedures:

1. Staff Training

All staff carrying out election duties will be trained to recognize and ensure that persons 
with disabilities are served in a manner that accommodates their needs. 

Training will include:

1. How to interact and communicate with persons with various disabilities.
2. How to interact with persons with disabilities who use assistive devices or require the 

assistance of a service animal or support person.
3. How to use voting equipment and assistive devices to deliver election services.
4. What to do if a person is having difficulty accessing election information or services.

2. Staff Assistance

Election Information

Candidates and electors with disabilities will be able to receive information and copies 
of election documents in a format that takes into account their disability. The format may 
be agreed upon between the requester and the Township Clerk. Notice of this provision 
is located on the Township’s Accessibility Webpage at www.puslinch.ca and is included 
in election notices placed in the local media. 

Notice of Temporary Service Disruption

If there is a temporary disruption in the delivery of election information or services, 
Township Staff shall provide public notice on the Township’s Election Webpage, at the 
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physical site of the disruption and when possible in the local media. The notice shall 
include the following information:

reason for the disruption,
expected duration of the disruption,
if available, an alternative means of obtaining the service.

Every effort shall be made to provide alternative methods of providing the information or
service to persons with disabilities.

Township Staff are available to assist with any issues that may arise with respect to 
providing a barrier-free election and can be reached by way of the following contact 
information:

Telephone: 519-763-1226

In Person: Municipal Offices 
7404 Wellington Road 34 
Puslinch, ON  N0B 2J0

Email: elections@puslinch.ca

Mail: Township of Puslinch 
7404 Wellington Road 34 
Puslinch, ON  N0B 2J0

3. Assistance to Candidates

Service Animals

Candidates and scrutineers are permitted to be accompanied by a service animal at all 
Voting Locations and other designated election locations.

Campaign Expenses

Expenses that are incurred by a candidate with a disability are directly related to the 
disability, and would not have been incurred but for the election to which the expenses 
relate, are excluded from the permitted spending limit for the candidate.

4. Assistance to Electors

Voting by Proxy

A person with a disability that is homebound or otherwise unable to go to a Voting 
Location may appoint another person to act as a voting proxy to cast a ballot on his or 
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her behalf. The appointment must be made on the prescribed form available at Township 
Municipal Offices. The person being appointed as a proxy will be required to take a 
statutory declaration before a Commissioner of Oaths. Township Staff can administer this 
oath (Municipal Offices, 7404 Wellington Rd 34, Puslinch, ON N0B 2J0). Once completed, 
the voting proxy may be exercised at any advance voting location or on Election Day. On 
Election Day the proxy must be exercised at a Location for whom the proxy is voting. The 
Voting Proxy Form will be available August 1, 2018.

Voting Locations

Information regarding Advance Voting opportunities and Election Day voting information 
will be available on the Township’s election webpage at www.puslinch.ca.

Parking

Accessible parking spaces will be clearly marked and in full compliance with the 
Township’s Parking By-law 5000-05. Routine checks will be made to ensure all entrances 
remain barrier free through the course of the day.

Entrance to the Voting Locations

All entrances to the Voting Location will be easy to access and barrier free. Every effort 
shall be made to ensure that the door into the Voting Location is wide enough for a 
wheelchair or scooter to pass through easily. The door hardware is to be accessible and 
operated by a person using a closed fist. If the doors are heavy, awkward to open or have 
handles that are in close reach, where possible they will be propped open in a safe 
manner, an alternative entrance will be provided, or election staff will be available to 
assist.

Interior Voting Area

Access to the interior voting area and voting booth shall be level and easily traversed. 
Any doormats or carpeting shall be level with the floor to prevent potential tripping 
hazards. All voting areas are to be well lit and seating made available.

Accessible Voting Booths

Accessible voting booths will be available at each Voting Location. Voting booths will be 
low in height and have a wide area to allow for individuals who use a wheelchair or scooter 
to vote independently and secretively. Magnifying sheets will be made available to assist 
an individual with low vision.

Accessible Voting Technologies – Advance Voting



Corporate Procedure

The Advance Voting Location will be equipped with a ballot marking device for a voter 
with a disability. The Ballot Marker Device produces a human and machine readable 
marked paper ballot from a blank sheet of paper, completely indistinguishable from a 
paper ballot marked by hand. The voter uses headphones to hear a ballot presentation 
and a handheld controller can also be operated by assistive devices such as a sip and 
puff or hand and foot paddles, for voters who are unable to use their hands to press the 
selection buttons.

When a voter wishes to use the accessible voting features, the election worker positions 
the voter behind a privacy screen near the tabulator equipped with the ballot marking 
device. The election worker then inserts a blank sheet of ballot paper into the printer slot 
of the device and provides the voter with the headphones and the handheld controller. 

The voter hears the audio ballot and uses the controller to adjust volume, speed of the 
audio presentation, move between contests, and select votes. The audio presentation will 
confirm votes selected for voter verification. When the vote has been made and confirmed 
all their vote selections they use the handheld controller to print their actual paper ballot. 
The printer device will automatically process the blank sheet of paper, printing the full 
ballot on the sheet complete with the vote markings selected by the voter.

The printed ballot is indistinguishable from a ballot marked by hand because the unit has 
a library of random handmade marking images which it prints on the ballot, so that the 
printed markings look just like marks made by hand with a pen. This feature ensures that 
if the paper ballots are later reviewed by election officials, they will not be able to 
determine which ballots were made by the Ballot Marker Device, thereby maintaining 
voter privacy.

The paper ballot printed by the Ballot Marker Device will emerge from the unit into a
secrecy folder. The election worker will then insert the ballot into the tabulator. 

While an accessible voting session is in process, the tabulator can simultaneously 
process paper ballots inserted by other voters, allowing the single tabulator to handle both 
voting channels and maintain the flow of voters.

Service Animals

Electors requiring service animals are permitted to be accompanied by a service animal 
at all voting locations.

Support Persons

Persons with disabilities may be accompanied by a support person within the Voting 
Location. In addition, an Election Official in each Voting Location can assist a voter. Prior 
to entering the voting booth, the Election Official shall, in conjunction with the person with 
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the disability, determine the extent to which they need assistance and the best way in 
which this assistance can be provided. Where a Voting Location is located in an institution 
or retirement home, the Election Official can attend on voters in their specific living areas 
or at their bedside to assist them to vote. All Election Officials are sworn to an oath of 
secrecy.

It is the responsibility of all Election Officials to make as many accommodations as 
needed to ensure an elector with a disability is able to cast a vote with comfort and ease. 

5. Feedback Process & Additional Information

Feedback Process

Feedback regarding the manner in which the election services are provided to persons 
with disabilities may be submitted to Township Staff by the following methods:

Telephone: 519-763-1226

In Person: Municipal Offices
7404 Wellington Rd. 34, Puslinch, ON N0B 2J0

Email: elections@puslinch.ca

Mail: Municipal Offices
7404 Wellington Rd. 34, Puslinch, ON N0B 2J0

Website: www.puslinch.ca

In addition, the Township does offer an Accessible Customer Service Feedback Form 
located on the Township’s website at www.puslinch.ca under the Bulletin and Events
Page.

Once completed this form will be forwarded to Township Staff for action. In addition, staff 
working in the Township offices can complete the feedback form and submit feedback on 
behalf of the persons with a disability. Alternatively, the form may be printed and provided 
to the person for manual completion. Completed forms are date stamped and forwarded 
to Township staff who will respond to the candidate or elector directly within three (3) 
business days providing an anticipated action and timeframe for a full response, where 
appropriate.

The feedback process provides election staff with an opportunity to take corrective 
measures to prevent similar recurrences, address training needs, enhance service 
delivery and provide alternative methods of providing election information and services.
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Additional Information

Administration Department

The Administration Department is located at the Municipal Offices (7404 Wellington Rd. 
34, Puslinch, ON N0B 2J0). Administration staff can answer any questions you may have 
about running for office, the election in general or specific provisions for those persons 
with disabilities.

Election Website

The Township of Puslinch’s Website is continuously updated to reflect the most recent 
developments and information. Visit the site for an up-to-date list of candidates and other 
important messages or events throughout the election year at www.puslinch.ca.

Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing – Election Website

This website contains information about municipal elections, the Province of Ontario 2018
Municipal Elections Candidates and Voters Guide and the Ministry’s commitment to 
promote greater accessibility for voters and candidates with disabilities 
http://www.mah.gov.on.ca/Page219.aspx

Service Ontario – e-Laws

This website contains all current statutes including the Municipal Elections Act, 1996, the 
Ontarians with Disabilities Act, 2001 and the Accessibility for Ontarians with Disabilities 
Act, 2005, www.e-laws.gov.on.ca.

Reference and Related Documents:

Accessibility Policy



Draft – Accessible Voting/Audio Vote Tabulator Procedures

Audio Vote Tabulator Procedures at Advance Voting Location

c) If a voter requests an accessible ballot, the Election Official shall position the voter 
near the Audio Vote Tabulator.  The assistive devices are connected to the Vote 
Tabulator.  The Election Official shall position the privacy screens around the voter 
to add further privacy.  The Election Official shall then insert a blank sheet of ballot 
paper into the printer device, provide the voter with the headphones and hand held 
device (or alternatively, a set of hand/foot paddles or sip and puff device). The 
Election Official shall position the secrecy folder at the printer exit slot to receive 
the ballot as it is printed.

d) In order to start the audio presentation, the Election Official responsible must press 
the security key to the security key pad on the Vote Tabulator.

e) The on-screen menu of the Vote Tabulator will display a number of administrative 
options.  “Accessible Voting” or “Audio Voting” shall be selected by the Election 
Official and then the appropriate ballot type (school support) shall be entered in 
order to indicate the type of ballot that the voter is eligible to receive.

a) When the voter has made and confirmed all their vote selections, they will 
use the hand held device (or alternatively, a set of hand/foot paddles or sip 
and puff device) to command the Audio Ballot Marker Device to print their 
actual paper ballot.  The Printer Device of the unit will automatically process 
the blank sheet of paper, printing the full ballot on the sheet complete with 
the vote markings selected by the voter.  The paper ballot will emerge from 
the printer hidden under a covering and will be placed in a secrecy folder 
before removal.  The Election Official will then place their initials and select 
the poll information on the ballot while it is within the secrecy folder and then 
insert the ballot into the input slot at the front of the Vote Tabulator, as per 
normal ballot processing as outlined in Section 11.

b) If at any point an audio voting session must be cancelled, the Election 
Official shall perform the following steps:

i. Press the security key to the security key pad, to display the operator 
screen menu.

ii. Press Accessible Voting or Audio Voting button.
iii. Press Yes or Cancel Audio to stop the Accessible Voting Session.

c) The audio voting session is then cancelled and the voter shall be provided 
with the opportunity to recommence the process or obtain a replacement 
ballot from the Election Official.

d) The external ballot printer will be connected to the Vote Tabulator prior to 
powering on the Vote Tabulator (during voting location set up).  Should 



there be any problems with the printer, it shall be unplugged and plugged 
back in.  If a problem persists, the Election Official shall contact the 
assigned Election Official and repairs will be undertaken or a new printer 
may be issued.

e) While an accessible voting session is underway the Vote Tabulator can 
continue processing ballots of other voters.

Volume adjustment Speed adjustment

Up / down 
buttons

Auxiliary Port 

Select button

Navigation buttons

Help button

Audio Port



2022 Municipal Election- Voting Station Review
Accessibility Audit Checklist

Facility Name:
Facility Address:

Audit date: 
Audit conducted by: 

Criteria Y/N Comments
ENTRANCE
ls the main public entrance a barrier free 
accessible one? (ext. & int.)
lf not, is there an alternative entrance that 
is accessible?
Is there signage directing to the 
alternative entrance?
ls the entrance well lit?
Is the entrance easy to see from the 
parking area?

PARKING LOT
ls there accessible parking available?
Are the accessible parking spots clearly 
marked with siqns and parked on the 
pavement?

RAMPS - Location:
Are ramps provided as an alternative to 
stairs?
ls the slope of the ramp 1:20?
Are handrails provided on both sides of 
the ramp?

DOORS - Main Entrance
Do the doors have a minimum clear width 
of 860mm (34 in) as measured between 
the door stop and the edge of the door in 
the 90 degree open position?
Are automatic doors provided
lf there is NO automatic door: Are lever 
handles or D-Shaped pulls provided?
Are the handles at an appropriate height 



(mounted between 900mm (35in.)
ls there a manoeuvring space of 600mm 
(24in.) on both sides of the door?
FLOOR SPACE
Are the widths of corridors, hallways and 
paths wide enough (min 1.2m/4 ft.?
ls the path of travel free of furniture or 
equipment?
ls adequate headroom height of minimum 
2.03m (6 ft. 8in.) provided? (protruding 
objects)
ls there space for wheelchair seating in 
the auditorium/ seating area(s)? (such as 
arena spectator, pool viewinq area)

STAIRS - Location
Are the stair risers closed in?
ls there colour or texture contrasted tread 
nosinq?
Handrails are provided on both sides of 
the stairs?

ELEVATORS - Location
Do the doors open wide enough to 
accommodate a person in a wheelchair; at 
least 915mm (36in)?
Do the doors stay open for at least 7 
seconds?
Are the internal dimensions minimum 
1.725m x 1.5m (5ft 8in x 5ft.)?
Are the buttons at an appropriate height 
(highest button no higher than 1.2m/4ft.,
lowest button at least
920mm/36in from the floor)?
Are the controls or floor buttons raised 
and done in Braille?

WASHROOMS
Are accessible stall(s) located within the 
current washroom facilities?
lf not, is there an accessible washroom(s) 
available to both males and females?



Please indicate the style of entrance into 
the washrooms with the accessible stalls: 
Airport style, Automatic, Push door.
ls there a clear turning space of 1.83m 
(6ft.) in diameter outside the accessible 
stall?
ls the accessible stall or facility1.83m x 
1.83m (6ft. x 6ft.)?
Are grab bars mounted on the wall behind 
the urinal and on the side wall?
ls the toilet flush control automatic or 
located on the side where the individual 
would transfer from?
Are faucets, fixtures, dispensers and light 
switches at an appropriate height?

ADDITIONAL COMMENTS: 
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As featured in the Wellington Advertiser on December 30, 2021.



As featured in Wellington Advertiser on March 10, 2022.



 

 
 COMMITTEE REPORT  
  
  
To:  Chair and Members of the Administration, Finance and Human Resources Committee 
From:  Susan Farrelly  Director of Human Resources  
Date:  May 17, 2022 
Subject:  2021 Human Resources Annual Report 
 

Background:  

As identified in 
(5) Priority Activities for this term of Council is to continue to engage staff to craft a Wellington County 

Priority
Wellington County Human Resource Plan that could include several different components. 
 
The attached report provides a review of the 2021 Human Resources activities and initiatives, as well 
as an outline of Human Resources priorities for 2022. The purpose of the annual Human Resource Plan 
is to develop a comprehensive report for County Council that will outline the breadth of the Human 
Resources activities and portfolio and provide important insight and information to County Council on 
a timely basis.  
 
We thank the Warden and Wellington County Councillors for making this such an important priority in 
the County of Wellington Strategic Plan. This strategic initiative provides an opportunity to shine a light 
on the activities of the Human Resources Department in supporting all County employees, 
Departments and Divisions to ensure the highest quality of service and commitment can be provided 
to County residents. 

Recommendation:  
 
THAT the 2021 Human Resources Annual Report  be received for information.  

 
Respectfully submitted, 
 

 
Susan Farrelly 
Director of Human Resources 



1

The mission of the County of Wellington Human Resources (HR) Department is to attract, retain and 
develop a dynamic, diverse and respectful team working together to deliver excellent customer service 
to our community.

Honesty, integrity, fairness and the legislative framework are guiding factors that assist us in advancing 
the strategic goals of the County.

We believe strongly in the capacity for employees to excel and in the creation of a healthy and safe 
workplace.

We strive to ensure that our supportive work environment, total compensation package and wealth of 
opportunities continue to m

The Human Resources Department provides services in the following areas:

Recruitment and Selection

Employee Relations

Learning and Development

Benefits, Pension, Compensation and Job Evaluation

Health, Safety and Wellness

Labour Relations

Human Resources Management (performance management and coaching)

Strategic Management (policy development and workforce planning)

Wellington County Strategic Action Plan Future Focused. People 
Invested.

As identified in the Strategic Action Plan, one of County of Wellington s Top five (5) Priority Activities for 
this term of Council is to continue to engage staff to craft a Wellington County Human Resource Plan. 
The Strategic Action of People as a Priori
Human Resource Plan could include components such as:

a. Creating a Wellington County employee mental health and well-being support and training 
programme (i.e. Guarding Minds as an initiative). Once created, share as a model with the 
municipal and community partners.

b. Defining, documenting and instilling the Wellington County corporate culture.



2 
 

c. Creating opportunities to build cultural diversity, openness 
corporate culture. 

 
d. Developing the best methods to achieve optimal staff and Council engagement and 

communication. 
 
e. Succession planning and the engagement of young professionals through the use of internships 

and work placements. 

 

Human Resources Department 

In 2021, the Human Resources Department consisted of 14 employees with the organizational chart 
outlined below.   
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In 2021, we welcomed new HR team members Adam Mitro and Gabrielle Andres!

Adam Mitro Human Resources Office Clerk

Adam has been a County of Wellington employee since 2016 
working in the Roads Department in the positions as a Roads 
Student and as a Winter Radio Shift employee. Adam has a Bachelor 
of Arts degree from the University of Guelph and a diploma in 
Human Resources Management from Conestoga College.  We are 
thrilled to welcome Adam into his first Human Resources position
at the start of his HR career.

Gabrielle Andres HR Summer Student

Gabby has been a County of Wellington employee since 2018, 
working previously as a Library Page and Library Student. Gabby 
works as a Terrace Aide at Wellington Terrace and she is currently 
attending Laurier University in the Bachelors of Business 
Administration Programme. Gabby was hired as HR student for the 
summer of 2021 to work on the County Culture Legacy project.

HR Celebrates Christmas at the County
Several HR Team members attended the County Christmas party. Some of our HR Team members in 
attendance included (L-R) Alessia Bottos HR Generalist, Mandy Lee Health, Safety and Wellness 
Coordinator, Shelley Sparks-Phillipps HR Generalist, Kristen Horne HR Generalist, and Emma Lahay
Pension and Benefits Coordinator at the County Christmas party in December 2021. Mandy represented 
HR on the Christmas Party Planning Committee!
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Employee Information

The following chart displays the employee count for the County of Wellington with Full Time Equivalents
(FTEs) by Department in 2021/2020/2019 with information Sourced from Treasury.

The average age of County employees in 2021 is 41 years of age, with the oldest employee being 93 
years of age (Key Tenant) and the youngest employee being 14 years of age (Library Page).

2018 2019 2020 2021
42 years of age 42 years of age 41 years of age 41 years of age

COVID-19 Pandemic

As the COVID-19 Pandemic continued throughout 2021, so did the trend of employee demonstrations of 
resilience and strength in the face of ongoing uncertainty and adversity. There is no doubt that the 
COVID-19 Global Pandemic, impacted all of County of Wellington services and communities in a 
profound way. 

The COVID-19 pandemic and its profound impact on our 
employees and on all residents of Wellington County, will never 
be forgotten. The workforce had to continue to pivot throughout 
2021 and adapt to changes at all levels. Implementing workplace 
lockdowns, adapting to revised Health and Safety protocols, 
COVID-19 vaccination requirement roll-out, Ministry and Public 
Health requirement updates, changing Personal Protective 
Equipment (PPE) and screening requirements, while continuing 
the work of the County and supporting employee mental health
at the same time, continued to be an ongoing reality throughout 
2021.  

Even the Duke of Wellington in the County Administration 
Building had to wear a mask!
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The Human Resources Department continued to be central in the support of 
COVID-19 Pandemic response in the following ways: 

 Coordinate and support the redeployment initiative for up to 25 employees to work at the 
Wellington-Dufferin-Guelph (WDG) Public Health COVID-19 vaccination clinics. 

 Coordinate the redeployment of County employees to assist in other areas, such as at 
Wellington Terrace Long-term Care Home. 

 Development and roll-out of a COVID-19 Vaccination Promotion Strategy. 
 Development of a COVID-19 Vaccination requirement policy for the County of Wellington with 

roll-out and tracking County-wide. 
 Ongoing updates and communication of COVID-19 Safety Protocols and screening requirements. 
 Continued distribution of PPE for employees in conjunction with Purchasing. 
 Worked with Communications on the updated signage relating to COVID-19 and screening 

protocols. 
 Signed an updated Memorandum of Understanding with CUPE Local 973 for rapid redeployment 

of Social Services employees as needed. 
 Hosted a virtual Town Hall meeting with Dr. Mercer  WDG Public Health, in conjunction with 

Communications for all employees on COVID-19 vaccinations. 
 Provided and promoted wellness resources, mental health support, Sun Life benefits and 

Employee and Family Assistance Plan (EFAP) services. 
 Supported employees in answering questions related to the County of Wellington sick time 

provisions, self-isolation requirements, or other related COVID-19 protocol, and guiding on time 
and attendance entry.  

 Communicated about the Infectious Disease Emergency Leave (IDEL) and the Declared 
Emergency Leave and assisting employees in navigating these leaves. 

 Communication, calculation and implementation of Government wage enhancement for 
Personal Support Workers (PSWs). 

All of these tasks were conducted in addition to 
requirements in supporting County of Wellington employees and spearheading strategic initiatives and 
projects. Through all of this, our team also completed several major projects and we had transitions 
within our Human Resources team as well. 

Employee Relations 
 
CUPE Local 973  Social Services 
 
CUPE Local 973 represents approximately 150 Full-time Social Services employees at the County of 
Wellington. We received six (6) CUPE grievances in 2021, compared to two (2) in 2020. A change in 
Union leadership occurred in 2021 with the retirement of previous CUPE Local 973 Vice-President Jane 
Reble. James Cassidy was selected to be the CUPE Local 973 Vice-President and Margaret Wrobel was 
selected as Union Steward. We thank Jane Reble for her service as a member of the CUPE Executive.   



6 
 

In 2021, we renewed the Memorandum of Agreement with CUPE Local 973 for a pilot project of an 
Alternative Work Arrangement which included flexible hours, reduced work-week and compressed time. 
The time frame for this renewal is for the period January 1, 2022 to December 31, 2023. 

Also in 2021, we signed an updated Memorandum of Understanding with CUPE Local 973 for rapid 
redeployment of Social Services employees as needed. 

Employee  Council  Wellington Terrace 

In 2021, County Council approved the revised Terms of Reference document for Employee s Council. We 
value the Wellington Terrace Employee Council group and structure, as it is an important part of our 
Non-union Home for the Aged in providing input to the management of Wellington Terrace in matters 
affecting all represented employees to ensure a mutually respectful, fair and equitable workplace.  

enter into negotiations with the County of Wellington in 2021. 

Roads Employee Representatives 

Annually in the Fall, a small group of Roads employees who are chosen as representatives by the 
employee group as a whole, meet with the County Engineer and Director of Human Resources to discuss 
working conditions and to put forward any requests. Over a series of meetings, enhancements to some 
current practices were agreed upon. 

Solid Waste Services Employee Representative Group 

In 2021, we had our inaugural meeting of the Solid Waste Services Employee Representative Group. The 
objective of this group is to provide a platform for Employee representatives to discuss issues that are of 
interest to employees in a constructive manner.  This advisory group functions as a transparent 
communication channel between Employees, Management, and HR, and provides accountability that 
matters of interest or concern are discussed and addressed.  This group works with Management and 
HR to ensure that  voices are heard and understood to help inform decisions and direction 
moving forward.  Meetings will occur at a minimum of four times a year initially and may occur less 
frequently over time.  

Employee Compensation 
 
Economic Adjustments 
 
County Council approved a 1.9% economic adjustment for employees paid off of the Non-union grid 
effective July 1, 2021. Due to the three-year negotiated Collective Agreement with CUPE Local 973, 
CUPE employees received a 1.9% economic adjustment effective January 1, 2021. 

2021 Non-union Compensation Review 

Marianne Love with ML Consulting was asked to complete a Non-union Compensation Review for the 
County of Wellington in 2021 to align with the five-year cycle of the full market review. This work 
included the following steps:  
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 Updating of all Non-union Position Descriptions representing approximately 200 positions; 
shared with Marianne Love.  

 Ensuring the positions are placed appropriately on the pay bands based on job value and 
ensuring internal equity is maintained. 

 Reviewing Pay Equity compliance for female dominant positions. 
 Reviewing Market competitiveness by using the approved municipal market comparators 

selected based on defined criteria (i.e., size, geographic placement, organization design and 
scope of service).  

 Ensuring alignment of the targeted 65th percentile of the competitive pay market for County of 
Wellington Non-union positions.  

 Updating the Non-union Compensation Grid having regard to the 65th percentile, Pay Equity 
compliance and competitive placement with the external pay market.  

 
As a result of this review, 10 pay grades out of the 20-Grade Non-union Compensation Grid were 
identified to be increased in order to meet the 65th percentile. As well, three positions were 
recommended to move to a higher pay grade based on job duties and market sensitivity. These changes 
were approved by Council and became effective January 1, 2022. 
 
Pay Equity has been maintained and there were no additional Pay Equity adjustments identified. 
The anticipated gains from adopting the 2021 Non-union Compensation Review results include ensuring 
that Positions are fair, reasonable and competitive to market throughout the entire Non-union 
Compensation Grid. This has a direct and positive impact on our ability to attract and retain staff, both 
immediately and into the future. Adopting the study results also ensures that we are meeting our 
current pay policy of targeting the 65th percentile of the competitive pay market. It is important to note 

ar and ongoing Job Evaluation maintenance of 
new and changed positions, as well as regular review of Pay Equity, has been key to ensuring the 
ongoing competitiveness of the grid.   

Furthermore, in order to smooth costing impacts in future years as a result of the Non-union 
Compensation Review, Council approved the recommendation that the interval frequency of the Non-
union Compensation Review be changed from a five-year review to a three-year review frequency 
moving forward. This is in keeping with evolving municipal pay practice and will ensure that fluctuations 
in the market will be captured sooner on a three-year cycle.  

County Benefits plan with Sun Life Financial and AIG 
 

me is underwritten by Sun Life Financial. To 
ensure that programme costs remain competitive, every five years it is best practice to conduct a market 
survey of the plan. On the advice of our Benefits Consultant, Mosey & Mosey, a comprehensive market 
survey was conducted for all benefits (except the AD&D benefit as it is covered by the provider AIG) on 

 in 2020. 

As a result of the rate guarantees negotiated with Sun Life 
benefit rates were on rate guarantee for the 2021 year and are scheduled to renew on March 1, 2022, 
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with a 10% cap at the first renewal. The Life and Long-term Disability (LTD) benefit rates are guaranteed 
for 27 months until March 1, 2023 with a negotiated 15% cap at first renewal.  

OMERS Pension Plan and County of Wellington Retirement Trends 
 
OMERS finalized launching their new e-access system in 2021 which has allowed for eased 
administration of the OMERS pension plan for our payroll and benefits team.  

There are 689 County of Wellington employees that are enrolled in the OMERS pension plan as of April 
2022. This includes employees that are in the OMERS category of Continuous Full Time (CFT) whereby 
enrolment is mandatory. Employees that are in the OMERS category of Other-Than-Continuous-Full-
Time (OTCFT) are also included, and enrolment is optional. In order to be eligible to join the OMERS 
pension plan under the OTCFT provisions, an employee must have worked a minimum of 700 hours 

Earnings (YMPE) in the preceding two calendar 
years. 

With changes coming to the OMERS Plan in 2023, enrollment is expected to grow. In 2020, OMERS 
passed a plan change to remove the current eligibility requirement for non-full-time (NFT) employees to 
join the plan which comes in to effect January 1, 2023. This will allow all NFT employees who work for an 
OMERS employer, who are currently not OMERS members, to join the plan at any time on or after 
January 1, 2023.  

Throughout 2021, there were 28 retirements at the County of Wellington.  Wellington Terrace and 
Library Services accounted for 13 of the 28 retirements, with nine (9) and four (4) employees 
respectively. Otherwise, there is fairly even distribution across all departments. This is a significant 
increase from both 2019 and 2020 when there were nine (9) and 16 retirements respectively.  

In the first half of 2022, there have been nine (9) retirement announcements, which is the same amount 
received at this time last year, so it is reasonable to assume a similar number of retirement 
announcements to be made in 2022.  

Exit Survey Trends 
 
We continue to offer exiting employees the opportunity to complete an Exit Survey and these are 
completed electronically or in-person. The Exit Surveys are shared with Scott Wilson  CAO, the 

or of HR.  There are many heartwarming comments 
received on the Exit Surveys about colleagues who have made a difference with the specific question 

on yo with the employees by the 
Department Head. 
 
In 2021, there were 104 Exit surveys completed and below are five questions that were asked as part of 
the Exit surveys that have been selected to report on. 
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Satisfaction with Total Compensation

In 2020, over 80% of exiting employees 
indicated that they were satisfied with pay, 
benefits, sick time and vacation; therefore, 
the 2021 results show a slight decline in 
satisfaction of this area, which is similar to 
the 2019 results when there was slightly less 
than 80% of employees reporting 
satisfaction in this area overall.  

position and employer offer that 
frequently cited answers include:  flexible work schedule, higher rate of pay and opportunities for 
advancement. 

In 2020, the top responses were: more hours, opportunities for advancement, work-life balance, and 
higher pay. In 2019, the top answers were higher pay, more hours, and work-life balance, which were 
the same top three answers in 2018. 

The 2021 results in this category reveal that having a flexible work schedule is becoming an attractive 
feature for employees, as well as the fact that employees are leaving for opportunities for advancement. 
Leaving for a higher rate of pay has been a consistent response over the last four years, pointing to the 
importance of having competitive rates of pay so that the County of Wellington is able to retain its 
employees and become hoice.  
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 their supervisor/manager, in 2021, there were 87% of 
employees who indicated their relationship with their immediate supervisor/manager was good or 
excellent, similar to 2020, when over 85% rated good or excellent. This is consistent with the results in 
both 2018 and 2019 whereby approximately 85% rated good or excellent in this category.   

This is positive as employees continue to speak highly of their Managers and very rarely is a Manager 
noted as the reason for leaving. 

Would you describe the County of Wellington as a great place to work  

 
 
Employees are also asked 
as part of the Exit Survey if 
the County is a great place 
to work, and in 2021, 76% 
of employees indicated 
Yes.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Positive comments continued to be received through the Exit Surveys with examples such as: 
 

 
 

he opportunity to work for them for so long. This has been a 
wonderful experience that has taught me so much! Everyone that I worked with and met through the 

 
 

 
 

   
 

  

In 2021, 13% of exiting employees have indicated they have experienced this, in comparison to 10% of 
respondents in 2020, which was the same result that was received in 2019. In 2018, under 10% 
indicated that they had experienced this.  



11 
 

One change we are making is to distinguish in the exit survey if this behaviour is from members of the 
public or from colleagues, to help us gain further insight. It remains to be true that the very large 
majority of employees have a positive experience free from experiencing harassment/discrimination or 
disrespectful behaviour in the workplace. 

Recruitment and Selection  
 
Where Interview Candidates Learned of Employment Opportunities with the County of Wellington 

When candidates are short-listed and called for an interview, we document where they learned about 
the position that they have applied for. In 2021, 43% of all short-listed candidates were internal 
candidates, compared to 50% in 2020.  

We continue to have great success in advertising our positions in the Wellington Advertiser and on the 
County of Wellington website, representing a combined total of 31% of short-listed candidates hearing 
about available positions, with 11% and 20% respectively. There was a 7% increase in the top qualified 
candidates becoming aware of positions through the County website from the previous year, illustrating 
the effectiveness of that job posting format. 

By asking the short-listed candidates where they are hearing about County job opportunities, we are 
targeting the most qualified candidates in this determination. Word-of-mouth also is one of the most 
cited ways candidates are hearing about opportunities at the County of Wellington. 
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Applicants by Location Mapping 

We continue to track the location whereby candidates are applying from based on the address provided 
on their resume/cover letter to assist us with recruitment planning and target advertising. Year-over-
year, we continue to see a trend with the majority of applicants living in the County of Wellington, 
Kitchener-Waterloo and Cambridge areas. Of interest in the 2021 mapping, there were less applicants 
from the Kitchener/Waterloo/Cambridge areas compared to the previous year with more concentration 
from the County of Wellington. Of the resumes received in 2021 where the address was provided, the 
location of the applicant showed:  

88.2% = Ontario  11.2% = Not Given 
0.5% = Out of Province    0.1% = International 



13 
 

 
Total Postings, Applications, Interviews 

The number of job postings and interviews conducted in 2021 were the highest number we have ever 
experienced in the HR Department. There are a number of reasons for this increase, including (but not 
limited to) the factors outlined below: 

 Majority of recruitment was paused/limited until Fall 2020, so it represents impact into 2021 as 
not all would have started posting immediately.  

 There was an increase in the numbers of employees leaving the County, as we have seen with 
the increase in retirements in 2020 as well as through employee attrition for other reasons. 

 Recruitment due to temporary replacements as a result of a leave of absence. As an example, 54 
County employees were off on a maternity/parental leave at some point in 2021. 

 We had temporary additions of COVID-19 screener roles required in 
and at Wellington Terrace, resulting in additional postings required. 

 Hiring of new positions that were approved as part of the 2021 budget. 
 Internal movement of candidate career progression. As an example, 41% of library recruitment 

resulted in an external hire. The majority of recruitment resulted in internal movement. Top 
reasons for internal movement included a schedule that offers more hours, a change in status to 
be eligible for benefits or a different work location. 

 Declined offers of employment or lack of successful candidates resulting in reposting required. 
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The following charts show the details relating to recruitment activity in 2021.

Year 
Number of Formal 

Postings 
Applications 

Received 
Interviews Conducted 

2021 366 3068 1094 

2020 228 2751 689 

2019 258 3816 852 

2018 255 3587 869 

2017 219 3735 739 

 

Formal Postings by Department 

The top three (3) Departments with the most postings in 2021 were Wellington Terrace, Social Services 
and Library Services. These are the Departments with the largest pool of Permanent Part-time and 
Casual employees, so having these Departments with the largest amount of postings is a continued 
trend from year-to-year. 
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Declined Offer of Employment 

Towards the end of 2018, an increase started to be observed of our top chosen candidates declining 
offers of positions. In 2021, we started to track the numbers more closely, with the results and the 
reasons provided outlined below. This points to the competitiveness of recruitment and the need to 
continue to be strategic  
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2021 Declined Employment Offers 24 Top Reasons 
Accepted Position Elsewhere 11 #1 Reason 

Schedule 5 #2 Reason 
Vaccination Policy 2 #3 Reason 

 
HR Technology 
 
The Human Resources (HR) department, along with Information Technology (IT), started a project  in 
2021 to select a vendor and to start the process for the implementation of a new Human Resources 
Information System (HRIS).  In conjunction with Treasury, an application was made for a Provincial 
modernization grant for which we were successful in obtaining. 
 
This new HRIS system will be launched in 2022, and it will be a single location for employees to access 
their personal, job and benefits information through any web browser or a mobile application. Once 
deployed, the new HRIS will provide access to core HR functions and requests, based on the profile as a 
manager or an employee. This system will also provide the streamlining of recruitment processes, a 
centralized learning management system for training, a format to view and download pay statements 
and T4s, and much more. For all employees, the direct access functionality will become a new way of 
interacting with HR, giving employees the flexibility, autonomy, and a sense of engagement for a better 
overall employee experience. 
 
In 2021, the KRONOS Attendance software was implemented for Library Services as well as Maintenance 

 Administration, providing more streamlined scheduling, time recording and online employee access to 
their schedule and shift changes from any location. 

Employee Training and Development 
 
There were number of training initiatives provided in 2021. To highlight some of the training that was 
provided, New Hire Orientation was delivered virtually due to the COVID-19 pandemic, report-writing 
training through AMCTO was provided to the management group, de-escalation training was provided 
to employees within the Libraries and Museum and Archives, and substance use training was rolled out 
County-wide.  

The County of Wellington is committed to promoting the ongoing education and training of its 
employees. For the annual $20,000 Tuition Reimbursement Grant open to County employees, in 2021 
there were 13 employees who received funding to further their education. 

Health, Safety and Wellness 

COVID-19 Pandemic Health and Safety 
 
As expected, the pandemic has continued to be a significant focus of the Health and Safety portfolio. 
With the onset of COVID-19 Vaccinations becoming available in 2021, we worked quickly to create a 
COVID-19 vaccination strategy with an optional thermometer tracking of those employees who received 
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their doses, as well as weekly vaccination promotion emails. In June 2021, all new hires to the County of 
Wellington were required to show proof of double vaccination and in September 2021, a mandatory 
COVID-19 vaccination policy was put into place for all existing employees. 

Throughout the year, regular updates to the COVID-19 Protocol policy, screening and PPE requirements
have occurred with communication to all employees, as a result of the changing Ministry, Public Health 
and Provincial requirements.

Joint Health and Safety Committees (JHSC)

There are now five (5) Joint Health and Safety Committees (JHSC) at the County of Wellington, as a 
result of an additional JHSC being established with Ministry of Labour 
approval, serving the Social Services Department with a multi-site agreement due to the unique nature 
of the working environments and clients served.  

We commenced holding quarterly meetings with all of the JHSC Co-Chairs and with Scott Wilson CAO 
and Susan Farrelly Director of Human Resources to discuss emerging themes, activities and meeting 
minutes stemming from the JHSC meetings.

Here4Hope Partnership with Canadian Mental Health Association 
(CMHA) Waterloo Wellington

In 2020, County Council approved the renewal of the three-year partnership with the Canadian Mental 
Health Association Waterloo Wellington (CMHA WW) to enable, continue to lead, and support the work 
of promoting life and preventing suicide in Wellington County. Regular reports are provided to AF&HR 
Committee and County Council on this partnership and its activities.

The Staff Recognition Sub-
employees by having an ice cream truck visit various County locations 
in the summer was a huge hit. This is a photo of the long employee line 
up at the Administration complex and as the employees can attest it 
was definitely worth the wait!

The Wellness Steering Committee set to work in 2021 to focus on the establishment of sub-committees 
and to focus efforts in the following areas:

Health Promotion
Diversity and Inclusion
Staff Appreciation
Mental Health and Suicide Prevention Training
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Although the COVID-19 pandemic has impacted a number of the activities, the work continued in 
conjunction with Communications, Human Resources, and Cecilia-Marie Roberts  Suicide Prevention 
Lead with CMHA WW. Specific strides were made in 2021 by continuing to offer SafeTalk sessions when 
able, promoting a series of Mental Health and Wellness webinars, rolling out email communication 
along with the very successful Here4Hope campaign held in the Fall.  The Terms of References were 
developed for each sub-committee and members were chosen throughout the County departments. An 
annual work plan was created for each of the sub-committees and presented to the Staff Advisory 
Committee in December 2021/January 2022 for the year-ahead. 

County Culture Legacy Project 

The County of Wellington Strategic Action Plan guiding the work for the remaining term of Council 

has a strong positive corporate culture, this corporate culture is not documented anywhere. It became 
clear through the information-gathering of the Strategic Planning exercise, as well as observed during 
the various working sessions, that the County Culture is indeed something that is very special, but there 

define, document and instill the Wellington County Corporate Culture is outlined. 

In order to understand why the County Culture is the way that it is today, we must seek to understand 
the legacy and impact of those who have served before us. The intent is to capture the legacy individuals 
have left for others, the impact they have had on the County Culture, and the special way they had 
served during their time for the County of Wellington to pave the way for the County Culture as it is 
today. By understanding the past, we can understand the culture of the present, and the culture that 
will best serve the County of Wellington into the future. 

An exciting project is underway to capture the County Culture, through a partnership between Human 
Resources, Communications and the Museum and Archives. Under the leadership of Andrea Ravensdale 

 Communications Manager, Jana Burns  Museum and Wellington Place Administrator, Molly Wright  
Manager of Human Resources and Susan Farrelly  Director of HR, summer students are involved in this 
project to capture the stories of individuals and initiatives identified as being instrumental in forming 

 

Working closely with Communications and Museum staff over the course of this project, the goal is to 
create a book to capture this history, as well as to create a video, highlighting various people and key 
components of the County Culture. The intent is this would be shared for onboarding of new County 
employees and Elected Officials and to have available on our website and to be viewed for generations 
to come. 

The goal for completion of the County Culture project is November 2022, providing a lasting legacy of 

 as identified in the Strategic Plan. 
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The Year Ahead - 2022 Annual Human Resources Plan

Human Resources is evolving and changing to meet the needs of the County. Projects are continually re-
evaluated and modified depending upon the County and Departmental priorities.  Other considerations 
include employee availability and budget, among other factors.  The following is a list of some of the 
projects, initiatives or priorities carried over from the previous year and/or new items planned for the 
coming year. This is not an exhaustive list and will be adjusted as new opportunities or priorities are 
identified and developed in response to corporate and employee needs. 

 Human Resources Information System (HRIS) project implementation. 
 Review and refresh of County interview and reference-checking processes. 
 County-wide training on Mental Health and Wellness. 
 County-wide retraining of Respectful Workplace and Workplace Violence Prevention Policies. 
 Identification and roll-out of County-wide training on Diversity and Inclusion. 
 Continuation of partnership and work with CMHA WW for Life Promotion and Suicide 

Prevention, including a Here4Hope community event in the Fall and continuing work of the Sub-
Committees of Employee Recognition, Health Promotion and Diversity and Inclusion. 

 Continuation of the COVID-19 Vaccination Promotion Strategy. 
 Ongoing support of employee redeployment to the Wellington-Dufferin-Guelph Public Health 

COVID-19 Vaccination clinics. 
 Monitoring and communicating evolving County-wide COVID-19 requirements and protocol. 
 Hiring of new HR position of Disability Management Coordinator. 
 Review of Performance Appraisal process and forms in consideration of an Employee 

Development Programme. 
 Completion of the County Culture Legacy Project. 

 

 

 

 


